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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
Certain statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB which are not statements of historical fact are intended to be, and are hereby identified as, "forward-
looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The Company cautions readers that forward-looking statements involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from
any future results, performance or achievement expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others, the following: the Company's
inability to secure adequate capital to fund operations, working capital requirements, advertising and promotional expenditures and principal and interest payments on debt
obligations; factors related to increased competition from existing and new competitors including new product introduction, price reduction and increased spending on
marketing; limitations on the Company's opportunities to enter into and/or renew agreements with international partners, the failure of the Company or its partners to
successfully market, sell, and deliver its product in international markets, and risks inherent in doing business on an international level, such as laws governing medical
devices that differ from those in the U.S., unexpected changes in the regulatory requirements, political risks, export restrictions, tariffs, and other trade barriers, and
fluctuations in currency exchange rates; the disruption of production at the Company's manufacturing facility due to raw material shortages, labor shortages, and/or physical
damage to the Company's facilities; the Company's inability to manage its growth and to adapt its administrative, operational and financial control systems to the needs of
the expanded entity and the failure of management to anticipate, respond to and manage changing business conditions; the loss of the services of executive officers and other
key employees and the Company's continued ability to attract and retain highly-skilled and qualified personnel; the costs and other effects of litigation, governmental
investigations, legal and administrative cases and proceedings, settlements and investigations; and developments or assertions by or against the Company relating to
intellectual property rights.

4



PART I

Item 1. Description of Business.

General

The Female Health Company ("FHC" or the "Company") manufactures, markets and sells the FC female condom (FC), the only FDA-approved product under a woman's
control which can prevent unintended pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases ("STDs"), including HIV/AIDS.
 
FC has undergone extensive testing for efficacy, safety and acceptability, not only in the United States but also in many countries around the world. Certain of these studies
show that having FC available allows women to have more options, resulting in an increase in protected sex acts and a decrease in STDs, including HIV/AIDS.

The product is currently sold or available in various venues. It is commercially marketed in 14 countries by various FHC country specific partners, including the United
States, United Kingdom, Canada, France, and Brazil. Currently there are programs and/or pilot studies ongoing in over 100 countries.
 
Product

FC is made of polyurethane, a thin but strong material which is resistant to rips and tears during use. FC consists of a soft, loose fitting sheath and two flexible O rings. One
of the rings is used to insert the device and helps to hold it in place. The other ring remains outside the vagina after insertion. FC lines the vagina, preventing skin from
touching skin during intercourse. FC is pre-lubricated and disposable and is intended for use during only one sex act.

In 2005, FHC announced that it had completed development of its second generation female condom, FC2. FC2 is made of a nitrile polymer which allows for a more rapid
and economical manufacturing process. FC2 has the same physical design, specifications, safety and efficacy profile as the female condom the Company now sells. FC2 has
been approved by the European Union ("EU") and received the CE mark and is under review by the World Health Organization ("WHO"). FHC is in discussions with the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") regarding requirements for US distribution. To date, the Company has not yet completed any sales or received any orders
for FC2.

Raw Materials

Polyurethane is the principal raw material the Company uses to produce FC. The Company has entered into a supply agreement with Deerfield Urethane, Inc. for the
purchase of the Company's requirement of polyurethane. Under this agreement, the parties negotiate pricing on an annual basis. The term of the agreement expires on
December 31, 2006 and automatically renews for additional one year periods unless either party gives at least 12 months prior written notice of termination. 
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Global Market Potential

It is more than twenty years since the first clinical evidence of AIDS was noted. HIV/AIDS is the most devastating pandemic that humankind has faced in recorded history.
The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (“UNAIDS”) reported that at the end of 2005, 43 million people globally are living with HIV. Women now comprise
the majority of the new cases. UNAIDS estimates that if further action isn’t taken up to 100 million people will have died of AIDS by 2020.
 
Currently there are only two products that prevent the transmission of HIV/AIDS through sexual intercourse--the latex male condom and the female condom.

The Condom Market

Estimates for the global annual market for male condoms are between 6-9 billion units. In addition, given the rapid spread of HIV/AIDS in India and China, UNAIDS
estimates that the need for condoms, both male and female, may be as high as 29 billion units in the next 6 years.

The FC Female Condom and the Male Condom

FC is currently the only available barrier contraceptive method approved by FDA and listed as an essential product by WHO that is controlled by women which allows them
to protect themselves from unintended pregnancy and STDs, including HIV/AIDS. The most important advantage is that using FC, a woman has a prevention method she
controls as many men do not like to wear male condoms and may refuse to do so.

The polyurethane material that is used for FC offers a number of benefits over latex, the material that is most commonly used in male condoms. Polyurethane is much
stronger than latex, reducing the probability that FC sheath will tear during use. Unlike latex, polyurethane quickly transfers heat, so FC immediately warms to body
temperature when it is inserted, which may result in increased pleasure and sensation during use. The product offers an additional benefit to the 7% to 20% of the population
that is allergic to latex and who, as a result, may be irritated by latex male condoms. To the Company's knowledge, there is no reported allergy to date to polyurethane. FC is
also more convenient, providing the option of insertion hours before sexual arousal and as a result is less disruptive during sexual intimacy than the male condom which
requires sexual arousal for application.

Numerous clinical and behavioral studies have been conducted regarding use of FC. Studies show that FC is found acceptable by women and their partners in many cultures.
Importantly studies also show that when FC is made available with male condoms there is a significant increase in protected sex acts. The increase in protected sex acts
varies by country and averages between 10% and 35%. 
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Cost Effectiveness

A study entitled "Cost-effectiveness of the female condom in preventing HIV and STDs in commercial sex workers in South Africa" was reported in the Journal of Social
Science and Medicine in 2001. This study shows that making FC available is highly cost effective in reducing public health costs in developing countries as well as in the
U.S.

Female Condom Reuse

Studies have shown that FC can be reused up to five times. WHO has noted the procedure to use regarding the washing and preparation of FC if it is going to be reused, on
its website. WHO, UNAIDS and FHC all make the statement that FC should only be reused when a new female condom is not available.

Worldwide Regulatory Approvals

FC received Pre-Market Approval ("PMA") as a Class III Medical Device from the FDA in 1993. The extensive clinical testing and scientific data required for FDA
approval laid the foundation for approvals throughout the rest of the world, including receipt of a CE Mark in 1997 which allows the Company to market FC throughout the
EU and in most countries of the world. In addition to the United States and the EU, several other countries have formally reviewed and approved FC for sale, including
Canada, Australia, Japan and India.

The Company believes that FC's PMA and FDA classification as a Class III Medical Device create a significant barrier to entry. The Company estimates that it would take a
minimum of four to six years to implement, execute and receive FDA approval of a PMA to market another type of female condom.

The Company believes there are no material issues or material costs associated with the Company's compliance with environmental laws related to the manufacture and
distribution of FC.

Strategy

The Company's strategy is to act as a manufacturer, selling FC to the global public sector, United States public sector and commercial partners for country-specific
marketing. The public sector and commercial partners assume the cost of shipping and marketing the product. As a result, as volume increases, the Company's operating
expenses will not increase significantly.

The Company filed a patent on its second generation product (FC2) in 2003. It completed development in 2005. FC2 has been approved by the EU and received the CE
mark. The FC2 data base is currently under review by the WHO and the Company is in discussions with FDA regarding FDA’s requirements for US distribution. Because of
the modified manufacturing procedure, it is expected that having FC2 available will result in a meaningful reduction in cost to manufacture FC, and thus ultimately reduce
the cost to customers based on the purchase of sufficient volume. It is the Company’s objective to use this opportunity to accelerate market penetration.
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Commercial Markets

The Company markets the product directly in the United Kingdom. The Company has distribution agreements with commercial partners in 14 countries with major
programs in 12 countries, including the United States, Canada, Brazil, Mexico, Spain, France and India. The agreements are generally exclusive for a single country. Under
these agreements, each partner markets and distributes FC in a single country and the Company manufacturers FC and sells the product to the partner for distribution in that
country.

After terminating its relationship with its first partner, the Company entered into a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding with a large Japanese pharmaceutical
company to distribute FC to public and private markets in Japan. Since then that company has been sold, thus terminating discussions. The Company is currently in
discussions with Fuji Latex, one of the largest male condom manufacturers and distributors in Japan and with whom the Company has previously signed an agreement to
manage the importation and quality control of FC under Japanese regulatory requirements. The potential new relationship would broaden Fuji Latex’s involvement with FC
to include marketing and distribution in Japan.

Relationships and Agreements with Public Sector Organizations

The Company has an agreement with UNAIDS to supply FC to developing countries at a reduced price which is negotiated each year based on the Company's cost of
production. The current price per unit is approximately £0.40 (pounds), or approximately $0.69. Under the agreement, UNAIDS and the Company cooperate in education
efforts and marketing FC in developing countries. Sales of FC are made directly to public health authorities in each country at the price established by the agreement with
UNAIDS. The term of the agreement currently expires on December 31, 2006, but automatically renews for additional one-year periods unless either party gives at least 90
days prior written notice of termination. FC is available in 87 countries through public sector distribution.

In the United States, the product is marketed to city and state public health clinics, as well as not-for-profit organizations such as Planned Parenthood.

Manufacturing Facilities

The Company manufactures FC in a 40,000 square-foot leased facility in London, England. The facility is currently capable of producing 60 million units per year.

The Company manufactures and warehouses FC2 within 1,900 square footage of a leased facility located in Selangor D.E., Malaysia. The facility is presently capable of
producing 8 million units per year. The Company intends to expand its capacity at this location and/or manufacture at additional locations as the demand for FC2 develops.
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Government Regulation

In the U.S., FC is regulated by the FDA. Pursuant to section 515(a)(3) of the Safe Medical Amendments Act of 1990 (the "SMA Act"), the FDA may temporarily suspend
approval and initiate withdrawal of the PMA if the FDA finds that FC is unsafe or ineffective, or on the basis of new information with respect to the device, which, when
evaluated together with information available at the time of approval, indicates a lack of reasonable assurance that the device is safe or effective under the conditions of use
prescribed, recommended or suggested in the labeling. Failure to comply with the conditions of FDA approval invalidates the approval order. Commercial distribution of a
device that is not in compliance with these conditions is a violation of the SMA Act.

Competition

The Company's female condom participates in the same market as male condoms but is not seen as directly competing with male condoms. Rather, the Company believes
that providing FC is additive in terms of prevention and choice. Latex male condoms cost less and have brand names that are more widely recognized than FC. In addition,
male condoms are generally manufactured and marketed by companies with significantly greater financial resources than the Company.

Medtech Products (MP) Ltd. is a condom company with a manufacturing facility in Chennai, India, which has developed the V/A - Feminine Condom, MP’s version of a
latex female condom. USAID and Family Health International (FHI) are currently evaluating the MP condom for consideration to move into a Phase 3 clinical study, having
already completed Phases 1 and 2. The manufacturing process has a CE mark for distribution in Europe and is available in German stores. Additionally, the Indian Drug
Controller approval was received in January 2003. The product has not received FDA approval nor has it been listed as an essential product by WHO.

It is also possible that other parties will develop a female condom. These competing products could be manufactured, marketed and sold by companies with significantly
greater financial resources than those of the Company.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company currently holds product and technology patents in the United States, Japan, the United Kingdom, France, Italy, Germany, Spain, the European Patent
Convention, Canada, the People's Republic of China, South Korea and Australia. These patents expire between 2006 and 2013. Additional patent applications are pending in
the U.S. and in other countries around the world through the Patent Cooperation Treaty. The applications cover the key aspects of the second generation female condom,
FC2, including its overall design and manufacturing process.

The Company has the registered trademark "FC Female Condom" in the United States.  The Company has also secured, or applied for, 12 trademarks in 22 countries to
protect the various names and symbols used in marketing the product around the world. These include "femidom" and "femy," "Reality" and others. In addition, the
experience that has been gained through years of manufacturing the FC female condom has allowed the Company to develop trade secrets and know-how, including certain
proprietary production technologies, that further secure its competitive position. 
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Employees

As of December 19, 2005, the Company had 122 full-time employees and 1 part-time employee, all but two who are located within the U.S. or the U.K. No Company
employees are represented by a labor union. The Company believes that its employee relations are good.

Backlog

At December 19, 2005, the Company had unfilled orders of $3,940,000. The comparable amount as of the same date of the prior year was $131,000. Unfilled orders
materially fluctuate from quarter to quarter, and include orders with requested delivery dates later in fiscal 2006. The Company expects current unfilled orders to be filled
during fiscal 2006.

Research and Development

The Company incurred approximately $274,000 of research and development costs in fiscal 2005 and $179,000 of research and development costs in fiscal 2004. Such
expenditures pertained to the Company’s need to conduct acceptability studies and analyze second generation products.

Industry Segments and Financial Information About Foreign And Domestic Operations

See Note 11 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included herein.

History

The female condom was invented by a Danish physician who obtained a U.S. patent for the product in 1988. The physician subsequently sold certain rights to the condom to
Chartex Resources Limited. In the years that followed, Chartex, with resources provided by a nonprofit Danish foundation, developed the manufacturing processes and
completed other activities associated with bringing the female condom to market in certain non-U.S. countries. The Company, known as Wisconsin Pharmacal Company,
Inc. (the Company's predecessor), owned certain rights to the female condom in the U.S., Canada and Mexico, pursued the pre-clinical and clinical studies and overall
development of the product for worldwide use and U.S. FDA approval of the product.

The Female Health Company is the successor to Wisconsin Pharmacal Company, Inc., a company which previously manufactured and marketed a wide variety of disparate
specialty chemical and branded consumer products in addition to owning certain rights to the female condom described above. The Company was originally incorporated in
Wisconsin in 1971.

In fiscal 1995, the Company's Board of Directors approved a plan to complete a series of actions designed, in part, to maximize the potential of the female condom. First, the
Company restructured and transferred all of the assets and liabilities of the Company other than those related primarily to the female condom to a newly formed, wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, WPC Holdings, Inc. ("Holdings"). In January 1996, the Company sold Holdings to an unrelated third party. Then, in February 1996, the
Company acquired Chartex (renamed The Female Health Company - UK in 1997), the manufacturer and owner of certain worldwide rights to, and the Company's sole
supplier of, the female condom. As a result of the sale of Holdings and the acquisition of Chartex, The Female Health Company evolved to its current state with its sole
business consisting of the manufacture, marketing and sale of the female condom.

The FDA approved FC for distribution in 1993 and the Company's manufacturing facility in 1994. Since that time, the Company has sold over 104 million female condoms
around the world.
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Item 2. Description of Property.

The Company leases approximately 3,100 square feet of office space at 515 North State Street, Suite 2225, Chicago, IL 60610. The lease expires September 30, 2006. The
Company utilizes warehouse space and sales fulfillment services of an independent public warehouse located near Minneapolis, Minnesota for storage and distribution of
the female condom. The Company manufactures the female condom in a 40,000 square foot leased facility located in London, England under a lease which expires in 2016,
with the right to renew through 2027. The FDA-approved manufacturing process is subject to periodic inspections by the FDA as well as the EU quality group. Current
capacity at the manufacturing facility is approximately 60 million female condoms per year. The Company manufactures and warehouses FC2 within 1,900 square feet of a
leased facility located in Selangor D.E., Malaysia. The Malaysian lease expires June 30, 2006, with the right to renew through 2007. Current capacity at the manufacturing
facility is approximately 8 million female condoms per year. Management believes the properties are adequately insured.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

The Company is not currently involved in any material pending legal proceedings.

Item 4.   Submission of Matters To A Vote Of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005.

PART II

Item 5. Market For Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Small Business Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Shares of the Company's common stock are traded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol "FHCO." The approximate number of record holders of the Company's
common stock at December 19, 2005 was 464. The Company has paid no cash dividends on its common stock and does not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. The Company anticipates that for the foreseeable future it will retain any earnings for use in the operation of its business. The Company's credit facility contains a
provision restricting the Company's ability to pay dividends and distributions. Information regarding the Company's high and low reported closing prices for its common
stock for the quarters indicated is set forth in the table below. These sales prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-ups, mark downs, or commissions.

  Quarters  
   FIRST   SECOND   THIRD   FOURTH  

2005 Fiscal Year              
Price per common share - High  $ 2.13 $ 2.10 $ 1.95 $ 1.86 
Price per common share - Low  $ 1.50 $ 1.66 $ 1.45 $ 1.37 
              
2004 Fiscal Year              
Price per common share - High  $ 2.84 $ 3.50 $ 3.30 $ 2.85 
Price per common share - Low  $ 2.05 $ 2.70 $ 2.50 $ 1.50 
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Between September 2004 and January 2005, the Company conducted a program to induce the holders of the Company’s outstanding common stock purchase warrants to
exercise their warrants. Pursuant to this program, the Company offered an incentive to such holders providing for issuance of (1) shares of the Company’s common stock
equal to 10% of the aggregate number of common stock purchase warrants exercised or (2) new common stock purchase warrants equal to 20% of the aggregate number of
outstanding warrants exercised containing an exercise price per share equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board on
the date the holder committed to exercise the outstanding warrants. Under this incentive program, one investor exercised 500,000 warrants as of September 30, 2004 and
received 550,000 shares of common stock which includes 50,000 incentive shares. Between October 2004 and January 2005 four investors exercised 1,000,000 warrants and
received 1,100,000 shares of common stock which includes 100,000 incentive shares and two investors exercised 1,200,000 warrants and received 1,200,000 shares of
common stock and 240,000 incentive warrants with an exercise price in each case of $1.50 per share and an expiration date of November 23, 2007. Among the seven
persons participating in this program were three of the Company’s directors (Stephen M. Dearholt, Richard E. Wenninger and O.B. Parrish). The Company received
aggregate proceeds of $2.5 million from the exercise of the outstanding warrants.

The Company believes that the issuance of the common stock and the common stock purchase warrants pursuant to the program were exempt from registration under
section 4(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act because such issuances were made to persons who are accredited investors. The
accredited investors represented to the Company that they were purchasing for investment without a view to further distribution. Restrictive legends were placed on all
instruments evidencing the securities described above.

Item 6. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview

Over the past few years, the Company completed significant aspects of the development and commercialization of the female condom. These initiatives have resulted in the
attainment of proprietary manufacturing technology and product design patents, necessary regulatory approvals, and the development of significant manufacturing capacity.
These steps, taken as part of the Company's plan to develop and sell a product with global commercial and humanitarian value, have required the expenditure of significant
amounts of capital and resulted in significant operating losses including the period 1996 through the present.

The Company has begun the process of developing the commercial market for the female condom around the world. As part of this plan, the Company has completed a
number of distribution agreements and is pursuing other arrangements for the marketing and sale of the female condom. Management believes that as the number of markets
in which the female condom is sold increases, sales will grow and at certain levels the Company will become profitable. However, there can be no assurance that such level
of sales will be achieved in the near term or at all.
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Results of Operations

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005 ("2005") Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2004 ("2004")

The Company had net revenues of $11,161,555 and a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $(1,516,863) or $(0.07) per share in 2005 compared to net revenues of
$8,982,074 and a net loss attributable to common stockholders of $(2,125,889) or $(0.11) per share in 2004.  

Gross profit increased $1,169,107, or 32%, to $4,791,400 for 2005 from $3,622,293 for 2004. The increase was a result of expanding net revenues more than offseting the
higher fixed and variable costs incurred to manufacture the product in 2005.

Net revenues increased $2,179,481, or 24%, in 2005 over the prior year. The higher net revenues resulted from increased unit sales shipped to global public sector
customers.  The increased global public sector shipments in the countries of South Africa and Botswana were partially offset by smaller reductions in shipments in
Zimbabwe, Congo and Kenya.

On May 20, 2004 the Brazilian Ministry of Health publicly reported a fraud in the purchasing of certain products by the ministry and several individuals involved were
arrested. Purchases of products have been suspended while the investigation was ongoing. The fraud does not involve the Female Health Company or the female condom.
However, the Company’s anticipated 4 million unit order was delayed due to the suspension and investigation. During 2004 and 2005 no public sector shipments to Brazil
were made. The investigation has been completed and the Brazilian Ministry of Health has resumed orders of the female condom beginning with a 4 million unit order on
October 5, 2005 to be shipped in fiscal year 2006, of which the first 2 million units were shipped in December 2005. Additionally, the Company shipped 110,000
commercial units to a distributor in Brazil in 2005, compared to 65,000 units in 2004.

Cost of products sold increased $1,010,374, or 19%, to $6,370,155 for 2005 from $5,359,781 for 2004. The increase in cost of products sold is a result of higher labor, direct
material, and indirect production costs due to higher production levels during 2005 than 2004.

Advertising and promotional expenditures increased $75,502 to $123,103 for 2005 from $47,601 for 2004. The increase resulted from the Company hiring a public relations
firm in 2005 to prepare for a worldwide FC2 product launch.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $1,242,757, or 28%, from $4,463,018 in 2004 to $5,705,775 in 2005. The increase in 2005 was a result of a rise in
stock compensation, consulting fees, executive staff compensation and increases in U.K. operating expenses. The higher stock compensation costs during 2005 were a result
of the Company recording $342,000 in non-recurring charges related to shares of common stock and stock purchase warrants issued as an incentive for exercising existing
stock warrants during the first two quarters of fiscal 2005 as well as increased compensation for investor relation services. The higher consulting fees incurred represented
services related to the documentation, design and testing stages required to design an internal control environment to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
During 2005 the Company incurred $435,381 in expenses related to the Sarbanes-Oxley implementation. The additional executive costs relate to the hiring of a Global
Development Vice President during the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year. The position was vacant for the first three quarters of that fiscal year. The overall higher UK
operating costs were a result of increases in insurance costs, engaging an IT consultant, property taxes and the Company’s bad debt provision in 2005 compared to 2004.
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Research and development costs increased $94,575 to $273,776 in 2005 from $179,201 in 2004. The Company filed a patent on a second generation product (FC2) in the
latter part of the 2003 fiscal year. The Company initiated a development program related to FC2 in 2004. The increase in costs during 2005 is a result of expenses related to
the safety and acceptability studies for the FC2 program and setting up a facility in Malaysia to warehouse and manufacture the product.

The Company's operating loss increased $243,727 to $(1,311,254) in 2005 from $(1,067,527) in 2004 due to the improved gross profit being more than offset by an increase
in operating expenses. Total operating expenses increased $1,412,834 from $4,689,820 in 2004 to $6,102,654 in 2005 as a result of increases in advertising and promotional,
selling, general and administrative, research and development, and stock compensation expenses. 

Net interest and non-operating expenses decreased $906,959, or 95%, to $44,402 for 2005 compared to $951,361 for 2004. The reduction in the current fiscal year is
primarily due to the Company eliminating its debt outstanding during the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The result is a substantially lower amount of both interest paid and non-
cash expenses incurred from the amortization of discounts on the credit facility during 2005 than in 2004. 

Preferred dividends increased $54,206 to $161,207 for 2005 compared to $107,001 for 2004. The increase occurred as a result of the Company’s issuance of 473,377 shares
of Series 3 Preferred Stock to eleven investors during February 2004 which thereby impacted 12 months of 2005 but only 8 months of 2004.

The Company was able to cover fixed manufacturing overhead costs and exceeded the break-even at the gross profit level. However, the Company must achieve cumulative
annual unit sales of approximately 19.5 million female condoms based upon the current average selling price per unit in order to cover operating and non-operating expenses
or approximately 32% of manufacturing capacity.

Factors That May Affect Operating Results and Financial Condition

The Company's future operating results and financial condition are dependent on the Company's ability to increase demand for the female condom and to cost-effectively
manufacture sufficient quantities of the female condom. Inherent in this process are a number of factors that the Company must successfully manage in order to achieve
favorable future results and improve its financial condition.
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Reliance on a Single Product

The Company expects to derive the vast majority, if not all, of its future revenues from the female condom, its sole current product. While management believes the global
potential for the female condom is significant, the ultimate level of consumer demand around the world is not yet known. To date, sales of the female condom have not been
sufficient to cover the Company's operating costs.

Distribution Network

The Company's strategy is to act as a manufacturer and to develop a global distribution network for the product by seeking the global public sector and by completing
partnership arrangements with companies with the necessary marketing and financial resources and local market expertise. To date, this strategy has resulted in numerous in-
country distributions in the public sector, particularly in Africa and Latin America. Several partnership agreements have been completed for the commercialization of the
female condom in private sector markets around the world. However, the Company is dependent on country governments, global donors, as well as city and state public
health departments within the United States to continue their commitment to prevention of STDs, including AIDS, by including female condoms in their programs. The
Company is also dependent on finding appropriate partners for the private sector markets around the world. Once an agreement is completed, the Company is reliant on the
effectiveness of its partners to market and distribute the product. Failure by the Company's partners to successfully market and distribute the female condom or failure of
country governments to implement prevention programs which include distribution of barrier methods against the AIDS crisis, or an inability of the Company to secure
additional agreements for the AIDS crisis, or an inability of the Company to secure additional agreements for new markets either in the public or private sectors could
adversely affect the Company's financial condition and results of operations.

Inventory and Supply

All of the key components for the manufacture of the female condom are essentially available from either multiple sources or multiple locations within a source.

Global Market and Foreign Currency Risks

The Company manufactures the female condom in a leased facility located in London, England and FC2 in a leased facility located in Malaysia. Further, a material portion
of the Company's future sales are likely to be in foreign markets. Manufacturing costs and sales to foreign markets are subject to normal currency risks associated with
changes in the exchange rate of foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar. For 2005, 76% of the Company’s net revenues, 88% of the Company’s cost of
products sold and 43% of the Company’s operating expenses were affected by changes in the exchange rate of foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar.
Approximately, 19% of net revenues in 2005 were to the Company’s customers in South Africa. On an ongoing basis, management continues to evaluate its commercial
transactions and is prepared to employ currency hedging strategies when it believes such strategies are appropriate. In addition, some of the Company's future international
sales may be in developing nations where dramatic political or economic changes are possible. Such factors may adversely affect the Company's results of operations and
financial condition. For 2005, the Company estimates that the net adverse impact of the exchange rate fluctuations was not significant.
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Government Regulation

The female condom is subject to regulation by the FDA pursuant to the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the "FDC Act"), and by other state and foreign regulatory
agencies. Under the FDC Act, medical devices must receive FDA clearance before they can be sold. FDA regulations also require the Company to adhere to certain "Good
Manufacturing Practices," which include testing, quality control and documentation procedures. The Company's compliance with applicable regulatory requirements is
monitored through periodic inspections by the FDA. The failure to comply with applicable regulations may result in fines, delays or suspensions of clearances, seizures or
recalls of products, operating restrictions, withdrawal of FDA approval and criminal prosecutions. The Company's operating results and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected in the event of a withdrawal of approval from the FDA.

Liquidity and Sources of Capital

Historically, the Company has incurred cash operating losses relating to expenses to develop, manufacture, and promote the female condom. Cash used in continuing
operations was $0.2 million for 2005 and for 2004.

The Company has funded operating losses and capital requirements, in large part, through the sale of preferred stock, common stock or debt securities convertible into
common stock.

While the Company believes that net revenues from sales of the female condom will exceed operating costs, and operations will generate sufficient funds to meet capital
requirements, the Company can make no assurance that it will maintain such a level of operations in the near term or at all. If the Company does need to raise additional
capital, the Company can make no assurance that the Company will be able to source required capital through the sale of debt or equity or, if raised, the amount will be
sufficient to operate. In addition, any funds raised may be costly to the Company and/or dilutive to its shareholders.

In an effort to generate funds for operating needs and to retire existing debt, during September and November 2004 the Company conducted a program to induce several
holders of the Company’s common stock warrants to exercise such warrants and receive an incentive of (1) shares of the Company's common stock equal to 10% of the
aggregate number of common stock purchase warrants exercised or (2) new common stock purchase warrants equal to 20% of the aggregate number of outstanding warrants
exercised containing an exercise price per share equal to the closing price of the Company's common stock as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board on the date the holder
committed to exercise the outstanding warrants. Under this incentive program, one investor exercised 500,000 warrants as of September 30, 2004 and received 550,000
shares of common stock which includes 50,000 incentive shares. Between October and January 2005 four investors opted to exercise 1,000,000 warrants and receive
1,100,000 shares of common stock which include 100,000 incentive shares and two investors opted to exercise 1,200,000 warrants and receive 1,200,000 shares of common
stock and 240,000 incentive common stock warrants. Among the seven accredited investors participating in this program three of the Company’s board of directors (Steve
Dearholt, Richard Wenninger and O.B. Parrish) and the bank which held the Company’s outstanding promissory note (Heartland Bank). As a result of the exercise of the
common stock warrants the Company received $2.5 million in aggregate proceeds. With the proceeds the Company paid off the remaining outstanding balance of its long
term debt.
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Presently, the Company has two revolving notes with Heartland Bank that allow the Company to borrow up to $1,500,000 and expire July 1, 2006. These notes were
extended on July 20, 2005, at the same terms held when the notes initially became effective on May 19, 2004. These notes bear interest payable at a rate of prime plus 2%
(prime rate was 6.75% at September 30, 2005). No new warrants were issued as part of the extension of these notes.  These notes are collateralized by substantially all of the
assets of the Company.  No amounts are outstanding  under the revolving notes at September 30, 2005.

Additionally, the Company entered into the following formal agreements during the past several fiscal years which it expects to contribute to continued improved sales
volumes and operations.
 
On September 30, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID). Under this agreement, the Company may
supply up to 25 million units of FC to USAID through December 31, 2006 principally for use in family planning programs supported by USAID in developing countries.
USAID has ordered 3 million units of FC for delivery between September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2004 and has the option to order up to an additional 6 million units
during that period. USAID also has the option to order up to 8 million units of FC for the 2005 and 2006 calendar years. USAID has the right to terminate the agreement at
any time for its sole convenience, and no assurance can be given as to the amount of FC that USAID will purchase during the term of the agreement. As of December 19,
2005, USAID has purchased 3.5 million units.

On March 25, 2004, the Company announced the appointment of Global Protection Corporation (“Global”) as the exclusive distributor for public sector sales within a 9
state region in the eastern United States. Global is required to purchase 2.6 million units within a three year period to retain exclusive distribution rights. As of December 19,
2005, Global has purchased 678,000 units.

On December 18, 2001, the Company announced the three year appointment of Total Access Group (“TAG”) as the exclusive distributor for public sales within a 15 state
region in the western United States. TAG was required to meet minimum unit purchase requirements within the three year period to retain exclusive distribution rights and
achieved the required levels. As a result, effective January 1, 2005, TAG was rewarded a two year extension as the exclusive distributor for public sales within a 20 state
region located between the Midwest and Western portion of the United States. TAG is now required to purchase 1.4 million units within the two year period to retain
exclusive distribution rights. As of December 19, 2005, TAG has purchased 640,000 units under the extension.
 
As of December 19, 2005, the Company had approximately $1.6 million in cash, net trade accounts receivable of $1.4 million and current trade accounts payable of
$0.9 million. Presently, the Company has no required debt service obligations. All principal payments were completed as of November 23, 2004.
 
If the Company is unable to raise adequate financing when needed, the Company may be required to sharply curtail the Company's efforts to promote the female condom, to
attempt to sell certain of its assets and rights or to curtail certain of its operations and may ultimately be forced to cease operations. Currently, the Company is focused on
growing its business and, therefore, the Company has made no plans to sell any assets nor has it identified any assets to be sold or potential buyers.
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Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Although the Company cannot accurately determine the precise effect of inflation, the Company has experienced increased costs of product, supplies, salaries and benefits,
and increased general and administrative expenses. Historically, the Company has absorbed increased costs and expenses without increasing selling prices.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Please see "New Accounting Pronouncements" in Note 1 of the financial statements.

Item 7. Financial Statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and notes thereto are filed under this item beginning on page F-1 of this report.

Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

Not applicable.

Item 8A. Controls and Procedures.
 
As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management,
including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and the Company's Principal Accounting Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based on this evaluation, the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective. It should be noted
that in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating
the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. The Company has designed its disclosure controls and procedures to reach a level of reasonable assurance
of achieving desired control objectives and, based on the evaluation described above, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer concluded
that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective at reaching that level of reasonable assurance.
 
During the evaluation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures conducted at the end of fiscal 2005, the Company's management determined that two material
weaknesses within its internal control framework, which had previously been identified in 2003 and 2004, do not appear to still be present.
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The first weakness related to the timeliness of accounting for certain transactions.  Equity transactions pertaining to outside consultants and new employees were not
communicated in a timely manner to the Principal Accounting Officer by senior management. In the final stages of preparation of prior Form 10-KSB reports, as part of a
reconciliation process, the Principal Accounting Officer discovered the excluded transactions and informed the Company’s external auditors of the proposed adjustments
and their potential financial impact. Such issues were discovered at the end of both fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2004 and related to fourth quarter activity only. During the quarter
following the discovery of each issue the Company discussed setting up a procedure to eliminate the possibility of future exceptions. No new weakness relating to the
specific equity transactions have subsequently occurred.
 
The second weakness related to the adequacy of supervisory reviews. The lack of reviews resulted in adjustments being proposed during the year-end field work by the
Company’s external auditors following the end of fiscal 2004. To remediate this weakness, beginning with the first quarter of the current fiscal year, the Principal
Accounting Officer began reviewing all of the components of the U.K. balance sheet and income statement including material financial transactions. No new adjustments
have been proposed by the Company’s external auditors during the current fiscal year related to the U.K. financials.
 
The Company is in the process of implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In doing so the above material weaknesses were addressed and remediated. In
completing the evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company's management concluded that the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended) during the Company's most recently completed fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 8B. Other Information.
 
Effective October 1, 2005, the Company entered into Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreements with O.B. Parrish, the Company's Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Mary Ann Leeper, the Company's President and Chief Operating Officer, and Michael Pope, the Company's Vice President.  These Amended and
Restated Change of Control Agreements are described in more detail under Item 10 "Executive Compensation - Employment and Change of Control Agreements." These
Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreements are attached to this report as Exhibits 10.78, 10.79 and 10.80 and are incorporated herein by reference.
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PART III

Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers; Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

Certain information about the Company's executive officers, directors and certain key employees as of September 30, 2005, is as follows:

NAME POSITION AGE
   
O.B. Parrish Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director 72
Mary Ann Leeper, Ph.D. President, Chief Operating Officer and Director 65
William R. Garguilo, Jr. Secretary and Director 77
Jack Weissman Vice President - Sales 58
Michael Pope Vice President and General Manager of The Female Health Company (UK)

Plc 48

Robert R. Zic Principal Accounting Officer 42
Karen King Vice President, Global Development 46
David R. Bethune Director 65
Stephen M. Dearholt Director 59
Michael R. Walton Director 67
James R. Kerber Director 73
Richard E. Wenninger Director 58
Mary Margaret Frank Director 36

O.B. PARRISH
Age: 72; Elected Director: 1987; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

O.B. Parrish has served as Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 1994, as acting Chief Financial and Accounting Officer from February 1996 to March 1999 and as
the Chairman of the Board and a Director of the Company since 1987. Mr. Parrish is a shareholder and has served as the President and as a Director of Phoenix Health Care
of Illinois, Inc. ("Phoenix of Illinois") since 1987. Phoenix of Illinois owns approximately 233,501 shares of the Company's common stock. Mr. Parrish also is Chairman
and a Director of ViatiCare, L.L.C., a financial services company, and Chairman and a Director of MIICRO, Inc., a neuroimaging company. Mr. Parrish is also a trustee of
Lawrence University. From 1977 until 1986, Mr. Parrish was the President of the Global Pharmaceutical Group of G.D. Searle & Co. ("Searle"), a pharmaceutical/consumer
products company. From 1974 until 1977, Mr. Parrish was the President of Searle International, the foreign sales operation of Searle. Prior to that, Mr. Parrish was Executive
Vice President of Pfizer's International Division.
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MARY ANN LEEPER, Ph.D.
Age: 65; Elected Director: 1987; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Dr. Leeper has served as the President and Chief Operating Officer of the Company since 1996, as President and Chief Executive Officer of The Female Health Company
Division from May 1994 until January 1996, as Senior Vice President - Development of the Company from 1989 until January 1996 and as a Director of the Company since
1987. Dr. Leeper is a shareholder and has served as a Vice President and Director of Phoenix of Illinois since 1987. From 1981 until 1986, Dr. Leeper served as Vice
President - Market Development for Searle's Pharmaceutical Group and in various Searle research and development management positions. As Vice President - Market
Development, Dr. Leeper was responsible for worldwide licensing and acquisition, marketing and market research. In earlier positions, she was responsible for preparation
of new drug applications and was a liaison with the FDA. Dr. Leeper serves on the Board of Neenah Paper, Inc. (NP: NYSE) and is chair of its nominating and governance
committee. She is also an adjunct professor at the University of Virginia Darden School of Business.

WILLIAM R. GARGIULO, JR.
Age: 77; Elected Director: 1987; Present Terms Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

William R. Gargiulo, Jr. has served as Secretary of the Company from 1996 to present, as Vice President from 1996 to September 30, 1998, as Assistant Secretary of the
Company from 1989 to 1996, as Vice President - International of The Female Health Company Division from 1994 until 1996, as Chief Operating Officer of the Company
from 1989 to 1994, and as General Manager of the Company from 1988 to 1994. Mr. Gargiulo has also served as a Director of the Company since 1987. Mr. Gargiulo is a
trustee of a trust which is a shareholder of Phoenix of Illinois. From 1984 until 1986, Mr. Gargiulo was the Executive Vice-President of the Pharmaceutical Group of Searle,
in charge of Searle's European operations. From 1976 until 1984, Mr. Gargiulo was the Vice President of Searle's Latin American operations.

JACK WEISSMAN
Age: 58; Vice President - Sales

Mr. Weissman has served as Vice President - Sales since June 1995. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Weissman was Vice President-Sales for Capitol Spouts, Inc., a manufacturer of
pouring spouts for gable paper cartons. From 1989 to 1992, he acted as General Manager-HTV Group, an investment group involved in the development of retail stores.
Mr. Weissman joined Searle's Consumer Products Group in 1979 and held positions of increasing responsibility, including National Account and Military Sales Manager.
From 1985 to 1989, he was Director - Retail Business Development for The NutraSweet Company, a Searle subsidiary. Prior to Searle, Mr. Weissman worked in the
consumer products field as account manager and territory manager for Norcliff Thayer and Whitehall Laboratories.
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MICHAEL POPE
Age: 48; Vice President, General Manager - The Female Health Company (UK) Plc.

Mr. Pope has served as Vice President of the Company since 1996 and as General Manager of The Female Health Company (UK) Plc. (formerly Chartex International, Plc.)
since the Company's 1996 acquisition of Chartex. Mr. Pope has also served as a Director of The Female Health Company, Ltd. (formerly Chartex Resources Limited) and
The Female Health Company (UK) Plc. since 1995. From 1990 until 1996, Mr. Pope was Director of Technical Operations for Chartex with responsibility for
manufacturing, engineering, process development and quality assurance. Mr. Pope was responsible for the development of the high speed proprietary manufacturing
technology for the female condom and securing the necessary approvals of the manufacturing process by regulatory organizations, including the FDA. Mr. Pope was also
instrumental in developing and securing Chartex's relationship with its Japanese marketing partner. Prior to joining Chartex, from 1986 to 1990, Mr. Pope was Production
Manager and Technical Manager for Franklin Medical, a manufacturer of disposable medical devices. From 1982 to 1986, Mr. Pope was Site Manager, Engineering and
Production Manager, Development Manager and Silicon Manager for Warne Surgical Products.

ROBERT R. ZIC
Age: 42; Principal Accounting Officer

Mr. Zic has served as Principal Accounting Officer since March 1999. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Zic held the dual positions of Acting Controller and Acting Chief Financial
Officer at Ladbroke's Pacific Racing Association division. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Zic served as the Chief Accounting Manager and Assistant Controller at Argonaut
Insurance Company. In this capacity, he was responsible for the financial and accounting operations of Argonaut and its four subsidiaries. From 1990 to 1994, he was the
Assistant Controller of CalFarm Insurance Company, where he was responsible for external reporting duties. From 1988 to 1990, Mr. Zic was a Senior Accountant
responsible for the statutory-based financials of Allstate Insurance Company. Mr. Zic began his career in 1986 as an auditor with Arthur Andersen & Co.

KAREN KING
Age: 46; Vice President, Global Development

Ms. King has served as Vice President, Global Development of the Company since August 2004. Ms. King spent the previous 22 years with Baxter International, Inc. in
general management, marketing and business development roles. Most recently, Ms. King was the President of a Baxter subsidiary, Pulse Nutrition Solutions, Inc., a
business focused on developing and marketing nutraceutical products.
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DAVID R. BETHUNE
Age: 65; Elected Director: 1996; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Mr. Bethune has served as a Director since January 1996. Mr. Bethune served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Atrix Laboratories, Inc. from 1999 until his
retirement in 2004. From 1997 to 1998, Mr. Bethune held the positions of President and Chief Operating Officer of the IVAX Corporation. From 1996 to 1997, Mr. Bethune
was a consultant to the pharmaceutical industry. From 1995 to 1996, Mr. Bethune was President and Chief Executive Officer of Aesgen, Inc., a generic pharmaceutical
company. From 1992 to 1995, Mr. Bethune was Group Vice President of American Cyanamid Company and a member of its Executive Committee until the sale of the
company to American Home Products. He had global executive authority for human biologicals, consumer health products, pharmaceuticals and opthalmics, as well as
medical research. Mr. Bethune is on the Board of Directors of the Southern Research Institute and the American Foundation for Pharmaceutical Education, Partnership for
Prevention. He is a founding trustee of the American Cancer Society Foundation and an associate member of the National Wholesale Druggists' Association and the
National Association of Chain Drug Stores. He is the founding chairman of the Corporate Council of the Children's Health Fund in New York City and served on the
Arthritis Foundation Corporate Advisory Council.

STEPHEN M. DEARHOLT
Age: 59; Elected Director: 1996; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Mr. Dearholt has served as a director since April 1996. Mr. Dearholt is a co-founder of, and partner in, Insurance Processing Center, Inc., one of the largest privately owned
life insurance marketing organizations in the United States, since 1972. He has over 23 years of experience in direct response advertising and data based marketing of niche
products. Since 1985, he has been a 50% owner of R.T. of Milwaukee, a private investment holding company which operates a stock brokerage business in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. In late 1995, Mr. Dearholt arranged, on very short notice, a $1 million bridge loan which assisted the Company in its purchase of Chartex. Mr. Dearholt is also
very active in the non-profit sector. He is currently on the Board of Directors of Children's Hospital Foundation of Wisconsin, an honorary board member of the Zoological
Society of Milwaukee, and the national Advisory Council of the Hazelden Foundation. He is a past board member of Planned Parenthood Association of Wisconsin, and
past Chairman of the Board of the New Day Club, Inc.

MICHAEL R. WALTON
Age: 67; Elected Director: 1999; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Mr. Walton has served as a director since April 1999. Mr. Walton is President and owner of Sheboygan County Broadcasting Co., Inc., a company he founded in 1972. In
addition to its financial assets, Sheboygan County Broadcasting Co. currently owns four radio stations. The company has focused on start-up situations, and growing value
in under-performing, and undervalued business situations. It has purchased and sold properties in Wisconsin, Illinois, and Michigan, and has grown to a multi-million dollar
asset base from a start-up capital contribution of less than $100,000. Prior to 1972, Mr. Walton was owner and President of Walton Co., an advertising representative firm
he founded in New York City. He has held sales and management positions with Forbes Magazine, The Chicago Sun Times and Gorman Publishing Co., a trade magazine
publisher specializing in new magazines which was subsequently sold to a large international publishing concern. Mr. Walton has served on the Boards of the American Red
Cross, the Salvation Army and the Chamber of Commerce.
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JAMES R. KERBER
Age: 73; Director: 1999; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Mr. Kerber has served as a director since April 1999. Mr. Kerber has been a business consultant to the insurance industry since January 1996. He has over 40 years of
experience in operating insurance companies, predominately those associated with life and health. From 1994 to 1996, he was Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer
and director of the 22 life and health insurance companies which comprise the ICH Group. In 1990, Mr. Kerber was a founding partner in the Life Partners Group where he
was Senior Executive Vice President and a director. Prior to that, he was involved with operating and consolidating over 200 life and health insurance companies for ICH
Corporation, HCA Corporation and US Life Corporation.

RICHARD E. WENNINGER
Age: 58; Director: 2001; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Mr. Wenninger has served as a Director since July 2001. Mr. Wenninger currently serves as Chairman of Wenninger Company, Inc., a mechanical contracting and
engineering company. From 1976 to 2001, Mr. Wenninger served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Wenninger Company, Inc. He is also Secretary of Wenn Soft,
Inc., a software development, sales and service company he founded in 1997. From 1992 to 1999, Mr. Wenninger served as Secretary of Liftco, Inc. Mr. Wenninger is a
current board member of the Boys & Girls Club of Milwaukee, a former President and board member of the Milwaukee Athletic Club, a former board member of the
Wisconsin Psychoanalytic Foundation, a former board member of University Lake School, the former President and a current board member of the Plumbing and
Mechanical Contractors Association of Milwaukee, the former President and a former board member of the Sheet Metal Contractors Association of Milwaukee and a
former board member of the Mechanical Contractors Association of America.

MARY MARGARET FRANK
Age: 36; Director: 2004; Present Term Ends: 2006 Annual Meeting

Dr. Frank has served as a Director since October 2004. Dr. Frank has served as an Assistant Professor of Accounting at the Darden Graduate School of Business at the
University of Virginia where she teaches financial and tax accounting since 2002. From 1999 to 2002, Dr. Frank was an Assistant Professor at the Graduate School of
Business at the University of Chicago. During 1997, Dr. Frank was an accounting instructor at the Kenan-Flagler Business School at the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill. From 1992 to 1994, Dr. Frank served as a Senior Tax Consultant at Arthur Andersen.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company's officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of the
Company's equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on Forms 3, 4 and 5. Officers,
directors and greater than 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish the Company with copies of all Forms 3, 4 and 5 they file.

Based solely on a review of the copies of such forms furnished to the Company, or written representations that no Forms 5 were required, the Company believes that during
fiscal 2005 all section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners were complied with, except that Mr. Pope filed a
Form 4 on December 19, 2005 reporting transactions occurring on October 4, 2005, October 18, 2005 and November 2, 2005.

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Ethics that applies to all of the Company's employees, including the Company's principal executive officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer. A copy of the Code of Business Ethics is available on the Company's corporate website which is located at www.femalehealth.com.
The Company also intends to disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, the Code of Business Ethics on its corporate website.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The members of the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors are Mary Margaret Frank, Ph.D. (Chairperson), David R. Bethune and James R. Kerber. The
Company's Board of Directors has determined that Dr. Frank qualifies as an "audit committee financial expert" as defined by the rules of the SEC based on her work
experience and education. Dr. Frank and the other members of the Audit Committee are independent directors in accordance with the listing standards of the Nasdaq Stock
Market. The Audit Committee is an "audit committee" for purposes of Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Item 10. Executive Compensation.
 
Compensation of the Named Executive Officers
 
The table shown below provides information for each of the Company's last three fiscal years regarding all annual, long-term and other compensation paid by the Company
to its chief executive officer and the other executive officers whose total annual salary and bonus exceeded $100,000 for services rendered during the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2005. The individuals listed in this table are referred to elsewhere in this report as the "named executive officers."
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

       Annual Compensation  
Long-Term

Compensation-Awards  
 
 
            Name and Principal Position

 
 

Fiscal
Year   

 
 

Salary ($) Bonus ($)  

Restricted
Stock

Awards ($)   

Securities
Underlying
Options (#)  

                  
O.B. Parrish, Chairman
and Chief Executive
Officer

 
 

2005
2004
2003   

90,000
90,000
90,000

---
---
---  

75,000
117,500
66,000

(1)
(2)
(3)  

---
---

464,000 (4) 
              
Mary Ann Leeper, Ph. D.,
President and Chief
Operating Officer

 
 

2005
2004
2003   

250,000
250,000
225,000

---
---
---  

37,500
47,000
46,200

(1)
(2)
(3)  

---
---

790,000 (4) 
              
Michael Pope, Vice President
and General Manager of the
Female Health Company (UK) Plc. (5)

 
 

2005
2004
2003   

160,343
155,059
121,893

---
---

16,473 (5)  

7,500
11,750

---

(1)
(2)
  

 ---
---

370,000 (4) 
              

 
(1) On October 1, 2004, Mr. Parrish, Dr. Leeper and Mr. Pope were issued 50,000, 25,000 and 5,000 shares, respectively, of restricted common stock by the

Company’s Board of Directors. The shares had a one year restriction and became vested on October 1, 2005. The closing price of the Company’s common stock
on October 1, 2004 was $1.50 per share. As of September 30, 2005, the value of Mr. Parrish’s restricted stock was $83,000, the value of Dr. Leeper’s restricted
stock was $41,500 and the value of Mr. Pope’s restricted stock was $8,300 based on a value of $1.66 per share, the closing price of the Company’s common stock
on that date. The shares of restricted stock have all the rights of the Company's common stock, including voting and dividend rights.

  
(2) On October 1, 2003, Mr. Parrish, Dr. Leeper, and Mr. Pope were issued 50,000, 20,000 and 5,000 shares, respectively, of restricted common stock by the

Company’s Board of Directors. The shares had a one year restriction and became vested on October 1, 2004. The closing price of the Company’s common stock
on October 1, 2003 was $2.35 per share. As of September 30, 2005, the value of Mr. Parrish’s restricted stock was $83,000, the value of Dr. Leeper’s restricted
stock was $33,200, and the value of Mr. Pope’s restricted stock was $8,300 based on a value of $1.66 per share, the closing price of the Company’s common
stock on that date. The shares of restricted stock have all the rights of the Company's common stock, including voting and dividend rights.  

 
(3) On February 12, 2003, Mr. Parrish and Dr. Leeper were issued 40,000 and 28,000 shares, respectively, of restricted common stock by the Company's Board of

Directors. The shares had a one year restriction and became vested on February 12, 2004. The closing price of the Company's common stock on February 12,
2003 was $1.65 per share. As of September 30, 2005, the value of Mr. Parrish's restricted stock was $66,400 and the value of Dr. Leeper's restricted stock was
$46,480 based on a value of $1.66 per share, the closing price of the Company's common stock on that date.  The shares of restricted stock have all the rights of
the Company's common stock, including voting and dividend rights.  
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(4) On April 22, 2003, Mr. Parrish, Dr. Leeper and Mr. Pope were issued options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock as part of an exchange for the
cancellation of previously issued common stock options, which cancellation occurred on September 26, 2002. The common stock options have an exercise price
of $1.40 per share, which was the closing stock price of the Company's common stock on April 22, 2003. The options vest pro rata (one thirty-sixth) on the first
of each month for 36 months following the date of the grant, commencing on May 1, 2003 and ending on April 1, 2006. 

(5) Mr. Pope’s salary and bonus are paid in U.K. pounds. Amounts shown for Mr. Pope’s salary and bonus are based on the 12- month average exchange rate for each
year, which was 1.85 U.S. dollars per U.K. pound in fiscal 2005, was 1.79 U.S. dollars per U.K. pound in fiscal 2004 and 1.60 U.S. dollars per U.K. pound in
fiscal 2003.

 
Stock Options
 
No stock options were granted to the named executive officers of the Company during the fiscal years ended September 30, 2005.

The following table provides information regarding the value of unexercised options held by the named executive officers at September 30, 2005. No named executive
officer exercised any option during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005.
 

AGGREGATED FISCAL YEAR END OPTION VALUES

 
 

Name 
 

Number of Securities Underlying
Unexercised Options at Fiscal Year End

(#) Exercisable/Unexercisable 
 

Value of Unexercised In-the-Money
Options at Fiscal Year End ($) 
Exercisable/Unexercisable (1) 

 
    

O.B. Parrish  373,777 / 90,223  97,182 / 23,458
     
Mary Ann Leeper  636,388 / 153,612  165,460 / 39,940
     
Michael Pope  298,055 / 71,945  77,494 / 18,706

     
 
(1) Calculated based upon a closing sale price of $1.66 on September 30, 2005.

27



Director Compensation and Benefits
 
Directors who are officers of the Company do not receive compensation for serving in such capacity. Individual directors who are not officers of the Company receive
$1,000 for attendance in person at each Board meeting or meeting of a committee of which he or she is a member. In addition, each director who is not an employee of the
Company receives an automatic grant of options to purchase 30,000 shares of common stock under the Company's Outside Director Stock Option Plan. Stephen M.
Dearholt, Richard E. Wenninger, Mary Margaret Frank, Ph.D., James R. Kerber, David R. Bethune and Michael R. Walton were awarded 30,000 options each October 21,
2004. All of the options have an exercise price of $1.66 per share and vest pro rata over a thirty-six month period commencing November 22, 2004 and ending on
October 22, 2007.

Employment and Change of Control Agreements
 
The Company entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Leeper effective May 1, 1994. The original term of Dr. Leeper's employment extended to April 30, 1997 and
after April 30, 1997 her employment term renews automatically for additional three-year terms unless notice of termination is given. The employment agreement has
automatically renewed for a term ending on April 30, 2006, and Dr. Leeper has given notice that her employment agreement will terminate as of April 30, 2006. Dr. Leeper
plans to continue as an employee of the Company and a senior strategic adviser focusing on the commercialization of FC2 and we are negotiating the terms of this
arrangement. The Company may terminate the employment agreement at any time for cause. If Dr. Leeper's employment is terminated without cause, the Company is
obligated to continue to pay Dr. Leeper her base salary and any bonus to which she would otherwise have been entitled for a period equal to the longer of two years from the
date of termination or the remainder of the then applicable term of the employment agreement. In addition, the Company is obligated to continue Dr. Leeper's participation
in any of the Company's health, life insurance or disability plans in which Dr. Leeper participated prior to her termination of employment. Dr. Leeper's employment
agreement provides for a base salary of $175,000 for the first year of her employment term, $195,000 for the second year of her employment term and $225,000 for the third
year of her employment term, subject to the achievement of performance goals established by Dr. Leeper and the Company's Board of Directors. If the employment
agreement is renewed beyond the initial three-year term, it requires her base salary to be increased annually by the Board of Directors based upon her performance and any
other factors that the Board of Directors considers appropriate. For fiscal 2003, Dr. Leeper's base salary was $225,000 per year. For fiscal 2004, the Board of Directors
raised her base salary to $250,000 per year. Dr. Leeper's base salary for fiscal 2005 remained at $250,000 per year. The employment agreement also provides Dr. Leeper
with various fringe benefits including an annual cash bonus of up to 100% of her base salary. The Board of Directors may award the cash bonus to Dr. Leeper in its
discretion. To date, Dr. Leeper has not received a cash bonus.

28



Effective October 1, 2005, the Company entered into Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreements with each of O.B. Parrish, its Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Mary Ann Leeper, its President and Chief Operating Officer, and Michael Pope, its Vice President. These agreements essentially act as springing employment
agreements which provide that, upon a change of control, as defined in the agreement, the Company will continue to employ the executive for a period of three years in the
same capacities and with the same compensation and benefits as the executive was receiving prior to the change of control, in each case as specified in the agreements. If the
executive is terminated without cause or if he or she quits for good reason, in each case as defined in the agreements, after the change of control, the executive is generally
entitled to receive a severance payment from the Company equal to the amount of compensation remaining to be paid to the executive under the agreement for the balance of
the three-year term.
 
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
 
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's common stock as of December 19, 2005 with respect to (a) each person
known to the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the Company's common stock, (b) each named executive officer and each director of the Company and (c) all
directors and executive officers as a group.

The Company has determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Unless otherwise indicated, the persons and entities included in the table have
sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned, except to the extent authority is shared by spouses under applicable law. Shares of the
Company's common stock subject to options or warrants that are either currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of December 19, 2005 are treated as outstanding
and beneficially owned by the holder for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of the holder. However, these shares are not treated as outstanding for the
purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. 
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  Shares Beneficially Owned  

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)   Number   Percent  
        
 O.B. Parrish (2)   1,141,123  4.7%
 William R. Gargiulo, Jr. (3)   131,944  * 
 Mary Ann Leeper, Ph.D. (4)   945,611  3.9%
 Stephen M. Dearholt (5)   4,391,763  17.0%
 David R. Bethune (6)   148,888  * 
 James R. Kerber (7)   551,766  2.3%
 Michael R. Walton (8)   792,288  3.3%

Ri     Richard E. Wenninger (9)   3,041,251  12.8%
 Mary Margaret Frank (10)   12,500   *
 Michael Pope (11)   372,189  1.6%
 Gary Benson (12)   1,538,258  6.2%
 All directors, nominees and executive officers, as a group
    (12 persons) (2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)(8)(9)(10)(11)(13)   11,596,684  41.4%
_______________ 

* Less than 1 percent. 

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner is 515 North State Street, Suite 2225, Chicago, IL 60610; the address of Mr. Dearholt is 759
North Milwaukee Street, Suite 316, Milwaukee, WI 53202; the address of Mr. Kerber is 8547 East Arapahoe Road, #J217, Englewood, CO 80112; the address of
Mr. Walton is 1626 North Prospect Avenue, No. 2310, Milwaukee, WI 53202; the address of Mr. Wenninger is 855 West Dean Road, Milwaukee, WI 53217; the
address of Dr. Frank is P.O. Box 6550, Charlottesville, VA 22906 and the address of Mr. Benson is Regency Athletic Club, 1300 Nicollet Mall, Suite 600,
Minneapolis, MN 55403.

(2) Includes 233,501 shares owned by Phoenix Health Care of Illinois, Inc. ("Phoenix"). Under the rules of the SEC, Mr. Parrish may be deemed to have voting and
dispositive power as to such shares since Mr. Parrish is an officer, director and the majority shareholder of Phoenix. Also includes 207,900 shares of common
stock owned directly by Mr. Parrish, 225,000 shares of common stock owned by the Geneva O. Parrish 1996 Living Trust of which Mr. Parrish is beneficiary and
for which Mr. Parrish may be deemed to share voting and investment power 438,222 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Mr. Parrish and
36,500 shares under common stock purchase warrants issued to Mr. Parrish.

(3) Consists of 37,500 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Gargiulo and 94,444 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Mr. Gargiulo.

(4) Consists of 199,500 shares of common stock owned directly by Dr. Leeper and 746,111 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Dr. Leeper.
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(5) Includes 1,414,855 shares owned directly by Mr. Dearholt. Also includes 69,500 shares held by the Dearholt, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan, 26,500 shares held in a
self-directed IRA, 275,820 shares held by the Mary C. Dearholt Trust of which Mr. Dearholt, a sibling and his mother are trustees, 18,100 shares held by Mr.
Dearholt's minor child, and 418,100 shares held by the John W. Dearholt Trust of which Mr. Dearholt is a co-trustee with a sibling. Mr. Dearholt shares the
power to vote and dispose of 693,920 shares of common stock held by the Mary C. Dearholt Trust and the John W. Dearholt Trust. Mr. Dearholt has sole power
to vote and dispose of the remaining shares of common stock. Also includes 116,388 shares of common stock subject to stock options and common stock
purchase warrants for 2,052,500 shares of common stock.

(6) Consists of 32,500 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Bethune and 116,388 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Mr. Bethune.

(7) Includes 363,710 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Kerber and 88,056 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Mr. Kerber. Also
includes 100,000 shares subject to exercise of common stock purchase warrants.

(8) Consists of (a) 353,448 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Walton, (b) 59,722 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Mr. Walton,
(c) 30,900 shares subject to exercise of common stock purchase warrants held by Mr. Walton, (d) 112,760 shares of Common Stock held by a trust of which Mr.
Walton is trustee and (e) 234,958 shares of common stock held by Sheboygan County Broadcasting Co., Inc. ("Sheboygan"). Under the rules of the SEC, Mr.
Walton may be deemed to have voting and dispositive power as to the shares held by Sheboygan since Mr. Walton is an officer, director and shareholder of
Sheboygan.

(9) Consists of (a) 2,653,751 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Wenninger, (b) 5,000 shares of common stock held by Mr. Wenninger's spouse
(Mr. Wenninger disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by his spouse), (c) 250,000 shares of Common Stock held by a trust of which Mr. Walton is
trustee, (d) Also includes 12,500 shares of common stock subject to stock options and (e) common stock purchase warrants for 120,000 shares of common stock.

(10) Consists of 12,500 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Dr. Frank.
 
(11) Consists of 22,745 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Pope and 349,444 shares of common stock subject to stock options.

(12) Consists of 375,166 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 1,100,000 shares of common stock owned by Goben Enterprises, LP, a limited partnership
of which Mr. Benson is a general partner. Also includes 63,092 shares of preferred stock.

(13) Also includes 3,750 shares of common stock owned directly by Mr. Zic and 63,611 shares of common stock subject to stock options held by Mr. Zic.
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The above beneficial ownership information is based on information furnished by the specified person and is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as required for purposes of this annual report. This information should not be construed as an admission of beneficial ownership for
other purposes.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes share information, as of September 30, 2005, for the Company's equity compensation plans and arrangements. These plans and
arrangements were not required to be approved by the Company's shareholders, and, accordingly, none of these plans or arrangements have been approved by the
Company's shareholders.

        EQUITY PLAN CATEGORY

 
 

NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES
TO

BE ISSUED UPON EXERCISE OF
OUTSTANDING OPTIONS,
WARRANTS, AND RIGHTS

 
 

NUMBER OF WEIGHTED-
AVERAGE EXERCISE PRICE OF

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS,
WARRANTS, AND RIGHTS

 
 

COMMON SHARES
AVAILABLE FOR

 FUTURE ISSUANCE UNDER
COMPENSATION PLANS

      
Equity compensation plans approved by
shareholders

 
 

            -      
 

       -  
 

      -

Equity compensation plans not
approved by shareholders

 
 

2,791,880  
 

$ 1.38  
 

174,528

       
    Total  2,791,880  $ 1.38  174,528

The Company's equity compensation plans include the 1997 Stock Option Plan, the 1997 Outside Director Stock Option Plan, special option grants to three persons and
warrant issuances to nine persons. All of the shares available for future issuance are under the Company's stock option plans. Shares of the Company's common stock are
authorized for issuance under the 1997 Stock Option Plan to employees, officers and key executives of the Company and its subsidiaries and shares of the Company's
common stock are authorized for issuance under the 1997 Outside Director Stock Option Plan to outside directors of the Company. The Board of Directors administers
both plans. Options granted are nonqualified stock options under the Internal Revenue Code. Options expire at such time as the Board of Directors determines, provided
that no stock option may be exercised later than the tenth anniversary of the date of its grant. Options cannot be exercised until the vesting period, if any, specified by the
Board of Directors. Options are not transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and may be exercised during the life of the participant only by
him or her. The option price per share is determined by the Board of Directors, but cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date
such option is granted.

The Company issued two options to purchase an aggregate of 150,000 shares of common stock to a consultant with an exercise price of $0.66 per share for each option and
an expiration date of December 31, 2011 as to 50,000 shares and June 30, 2012 as to 100,000 shares.
 
On September 19, 1997, the Company issued warrants to purchase 30,900 shares of common stock to a financial consultant with an exercise price of $2.50 per share and
an expiration date of September 19, 2006.
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Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Between September 2004 and January 2005, the Company conducted a program to induce the holders of the Company’s outstanding common stock purchase warrants to
exercise their warrants. Pursuant to this program, the Company offered an incentive to such holders providing for issuance of (1) shares of the Company’s common stock
equal to 10% of the aggregate number of common stock purchase warrants exercised or (2) new common stock purchase warrants equal to 20% of the aggregate number of
outstanding warrants exercised containing an exercise price per share equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board on
the date the holder committed to exercise the outstanding warrants. Under this incentive program, one investor exercised 500,000 warrants as of September 30, 2004 and
received 550,000 shares of common stock which includes 50,000 incentive shares. Between October 2004 and January 2005 four investors opted to exercise 1,000,000
warrants and receive 1,100,000 shares of common stock which includes 100,000 incentive shares and two investors opted to exercise 1,200,000 warrants and received
1,200,000 shares of common stock and 240,000 incentive warrants with an exercise price in each case of $1.50 per share and an expiration date of November 23, 2007.
Among the seven persons participating in this program were three of the Company’s directors (Stephen M. Dearholt, Richard E. Wenninger and O.B. Parrish). The
Company received aggregate proceeds of 2.5 million from the exercise of the outstanding warrants.

It has been and currently is the policy of the Company that transactions between the Company and its officers, directors, principal shareholders or affiliates are to be on
terms no less favorable to the Company than could be obtained from unaffiliated parties. The Company intends that any future transactions between the Company and its
officers, directors, principal shareholders or affiliates will be approved by a majority of the directors who are not financially interested in the transaction. 
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Item 13. Exhibits.

EXHIBIT NO. DESCRIPTION
  
  3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company. (19) 
  3.2 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company increasing the number of authorized shares

of common stock to 27,000,000 shares. (25) 
  3.3 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company increasing the number of authorized shares

of common stock to 35,500,000 shares. (32) 
  3.4 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company increasing the number of authorized shares

of common stock to 38,500,000 shares. (33)

  3.5 Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company designating the terms and preferences for
the Class A Preferred Stock - Series 3. (35)

  3.6 Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company. (3) 
  4.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended (same as Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4).
  4.2 Articles II, VII and XI of the Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (included in Exhibit 3.6).
10.1 Employment Agreement between John Wundrock and the Company dated October 1, 1989. (3) 
10.2 Wisconsin Pharmacal Company, Inc. (k/n/a The Female Health Company) 1990 Stock Option Plan. (4) 
10.3 Reality Female Condom Clinical Trial Data Agreement between the Company and Family Health International dated September 24, 1992.

(6) 
10.4 Trademark License Agreement for Reality Trademark. (7) 
10.5 Office space lease between the Company and John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company dated June 1, 1994. (8) 
10.6 Employment Agreement dated September 10, 1994 between the Company and Dr. Mary Ann Leeper. (9) 
10.7 1994 Stock Option Plan. (10) 
10.8 Investor relations and development services Consulting Agreement between the Company and C.C.R.I. Corporation dated March 13, 1995.

(11) 
10.9 Consultant Warrant Agreement dated March 13, 1995 between the Company and C.C.R.I. Corporation, as amended on April 22, 1996. (13) 
10.10 Company Promissory Note payable to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1 million dated March 25, 1996 and related Note Purchase and Warrant

Agreement, warrants and Stock Issuance Agreement. (12) 
10.11 Outside Director Stock Option Plan. (13) 
10.12 Exclusive Distribution Agreement between Chartex International Plc and Taiho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. dated October 18, 1994. (13) 
10.13 Supply Agreement between Chartex International Plc and Deerfield Urethane, Inc. dated August 17, 1994. (13) 
10.14 Employment Letter dated February 28, 1990 from Chartex Resources Ltd. to Michael Pope and Board Amendments thereto. (13) 
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10.15 Grant Letter dated March 7, 1996 from the Government Office for London of the Secretary of State of Trade and Industry regarding
economic development grant to the Company. (13) 

10.16 Letter Amendment to Asset Sale Agreement dated April 29, 1996 between the Company and Dowty Seals Limited and Chartex
International Plc. (13) 

10.17 Form of Warrant issued by the Company to certain foreign investors as of September 12, 1996. (14) 
10.18 Company Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $250,000 dated February 1, 1999 and related Note Purchase And Warrant

Agreement, warrants and Stock Issuance Agreement. (15) 
10.19 Company Promissory Note to O.B. Parrish for $50,000 dated February 1, 1999 and related Note Purchase And Warrant Agreement,

warrants and Stock Issuance Agreement. (15) 
10.20 Company Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1 million dated March 25, 1999 and related Note Purchase and Warrant Agreement,

Warrant and Stock Issuance Agreement. (15) 
10.21 Form of Registration Rights Agreement between the Company and certain private placement investors dated as of June 1, 1999. (16) 
10.22 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement between the Company and certain private placement investors dated as of June 1, 1999. (16) 
10.23 $1 million Convertible Debenture issued by the Company to Gary Benson dated May 19, 1999. (16) 
10.24 $100,000 Convertible Debenture issued by the Company to Daniel Bishop dated June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.25 $100,000 Convertible Debenture issued by the Company to Robert Johander dated June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.26 $100,000 Convertible Debenture issued by the Company to Michael Snow dated June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.27 $100,000 Convertible Debenture issued by the Company to W.G. Securities Limited Partnership dated June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.28 Warrant to purchase 1,250,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Gary Benson on May 19, 1999. (16) 
10.29 Warrant to purchase 125,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Daniel Bishop on June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.30 Warrant to purchase 125,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Robert Johander on June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.31 Warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Michael Snow on June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.32 Warrant to purchase 125,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to W.G. Securities Limited Partnership on June 3, 1999. (16) 
10.33 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant to acquire 337,500 shares issued to R.J. Steichen as placement agent. (16) 
10.34 Lease Agreement among Chartex Resources Limited, P.A.T. (Pensions) Limited and The Female Health Company. (17) 
10.35 Agreement dated March 14, 1997, between the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and Chartex International PLC. (18) 
10.36 Company promissory note payable to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1 million dated March 25, 1997, and related stock purchase and warrant

agreement, warrants and stock issuance agreement. (20) 
10.37 1997 Stock Option Plan. (18) 
10.38 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (18) 
10.39 Agreement dated September 29, 1997, between Vector Securities International and The Female Health Company. (18) 
10.40 Private Equity Line of Credit Agreement between the Company and Kingsbridge Capital Limited dated November 19, 1998. (2) 
10.41 Registration Rights Agreement between the Company and Kingsbridge Capital Limited dated as of November 19, 1998. (2) 
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10.42 Warrant to Purchase up to 200,000 shares of common stock of the Company issued to Kingsbridge Capital Limited as of November 19,
1998. (2) 

10.43 Agreement between Kingsbridge Capital Limited and the Company dated February 12, 1999. (22) 
10.44 Consulting Agreement between the Company and Kingsbridge Capital Limited dated February 12, 1999. (22) 
10.45 Registration Rights Agreement between Kingsbridge Capital Limited and the Company dated February 12, 1999. (22) 
10.46 Warrant for 100,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Kingsbridge Capital Limited as of February 12, 1999. (22) 
10.47 Company Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $250,000 dated February 12, 2000 and related Warrants. (23) 
10.48 Company Promissory Note to O.B. Parrish for $50,000 dated February 18, 2000 and related Warrants. (23) 
10.49 Company Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1 million dated March 25, 2000 and related Warrants. (23) 
10.50 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 14, 2000, between The Female Health Company and The John W. Dearholt Trust. (24) 
10.51 Warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Gary Benson on May 19, 2000. (24) 
10.52 Warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Daniel Bishop on June 3, 2000. (24) 
10.53 Warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Robert Johander on June 3, 2000. (24) 
10.54 Warrant to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to Michael Snow on June 3, 2000. (24) 
10.55 Warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company's common stock issued to W.G. Securities Limited Partnership on June 3, 2000. (24) 
10.56 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 14, 2000, between the Company and The John W. Dearholt Trust. (24) 
10.57 Exclusive Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2000, between the Company and Mayer Laboratories, Inc. (25) 
10.58 Amended and Restated Convertible Debenture issued by the Company to Richard E. Wenninger dated March 30, 2001. (26) 
10.59 Amended and Restated Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $250,000 dated February 12, 2001 and related warrants. (5) 
10.60 Amended and Restated Promissory Note to O.B. Parrish for $50,000 dated February 18, 2001 and related warrants. (5) 
10.61 Amended and Restated Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1,000,000 dated March 25, 2001 and related warrants. (26) 
10.62 Loan Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2001, between the Company and Heartland Bank. (26) 
10.63 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2001, between the Company and Heartland Bank. (26) 
10.64 Warrant dated May 18, 2001 from the Company to Heartland Bank. (27) 
10.65 Warrants dated May 18, 2001 from the Company to Stephen M. Dearholt. (27) 
10.66 Warrant dated May 18, 2001 from the Company to James R. Kerber. (27) 
10.67 Warrant dated May 18, 2001 from the Company to Tom Bodine. (27) 
10.68 Warrant dated May 18, 2001 from the Company to The Geneva O. Parrish 1996 Living Trust. (27) 
10.69 Warrants dated May 23, 2001 from the Company to Richard E. Wenninger. (27) 
10.70 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2001, among the Company and certain guarantors. (27) 
10.71 Exclusive Distribution Agreement, dated October 18, 2001, between the Company and Total Access Group. (28) 
10.72 Memorandum of Understanding, dated as of November 12, 2001, between the Company and Hindustan Latex Limited. (29) 
10.73 Warrant dated December 18, 2001 from the Company to Dr. Jerry Kinder (30) 
10.74 Warrant dated December 20, 2001 from the Company to Tom Bodine (30) 
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10.75 Warrant dated February 20, 2002 from the Company to Gerald Stein (30) 
10.76 Amended and Restated Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1,000,000 dated March 25, 2002 and related warrants. (31) 
10.77 Amended and Restated Promissory Note to Stephen M. Dearholt for $1,000,000 dated March 25, 2003 and related warrants. (34)

10.78 Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreement between the Company and O.B. Parrish dated October 1, 2005.
10.79 Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreement between the Company and Mary Ann Leeper dated October 1, 2005.
10.80 Amended and Restated Change of Control Agreement between the Company and Michael Pope dated October 1, 2005.
21 Subsidiaries of Registrant. (21) 
23.1 Consent of McGladrey & Pullen, LLP.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included as part of the signature page hereof).
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2    Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002). (36) 

___________________

(1)            Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1995 Form 10-KSB.

(2) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed December 8, 1998.

(3) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-18, Registration No. 33-35096, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 25, 1990.

(4)            Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's December 31, 1990 Form 10-QSB.

(5)            Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 2001 Form 10-QSB.

(6) Incorporated herein by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 33-51586, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 1992.

(7)            Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1992 Form 10-KSB.

(8)            Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's June 30, 1994 Form 10-Q.
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(9) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-2, Registration No. 33-84524, as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on September 28, 1994.

(10)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1994 Form 10-KSB.

(11)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 1995 Form 10-Q.

(12)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's June 30, 1995 Form 10-Q.

(13) Incorporated herein by reference to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Form S-1 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 5, 1996.

(14)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1996 Form 10-K.

(15)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 1999 Form 10-QSB.

(16)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's June 30, 1999 Form 10-QSB.

(17)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's December 31, 1996 Form 10-QSB.

(18) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form 10-KSB/A-2 for the year ended September 30, 1997.

(19) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 19, 1999.

(20)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 1997 Form 10-QSB.

(21) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form 10-KSB for the year ended September 30, 1999.
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(22)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's December 31, 1998 Form 10-QSB.

(23)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 2000 Form 10-QSB.

(24)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's June 30, 2000 Form 10-QSB.

(25) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 21, 2000.

(26)          Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's June 30, 2001 Form 10-QSB.

(27) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed on November 13, 2001.

(28) Incorporated herein by reference to Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed on February 6, 2002.

(29) Incorporated herein by reference to Amendment No. 2 to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed on February 27, 2002.

(30) Incorporated herein by reference to Amendment No. 3 to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed on March 18, 2002.

(31)          Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 2002 Form 10-QSB. 
 
(32) Incorporated by reference herein to the Company's Form SB-2 Registration Statement filed on September 6, 2002.

(33)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 2003 Form 10-QSB.

(34)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's September 30, 2003 Form 10-KSB.

(35)         Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's March 31, 2004 Form 10-QSB.

(36) This certification is not "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or incorporated by reference into any filing under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 
 
The following table summarizes the fees the Company paid for audit and nonaudit services rendered by the Company's independent auditors, McGladrey & Pullen, LLP,
during fiscal years 2005 and 2004:

Service Type Fiscal 2005  Fiscal 2004  
     
Audit Fees (1) $ 189,101  $ 172,588 
Audit-Related Fees (2)  205,094  -- 
Tax Fees (3)  20,723  32,873 
All Other Fees  --  -- 
Total Fees Billed $ 414,918 $ 205,461 

________________

(1) Consists of fees for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of the Company's financial statements for the fiscal years ended September 30,
2005 and September 30, 2004; the reviews of the financial statements included in each of the Company's quarterly reports on Form 10-QSB during those fiscal
years; and consents and assistance with documents filed by the Company with the SEC.

 
(2) Consists of activities in support of the Company's Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 implementation project and costs incurred for consultation on various

accounting matters in support of the Company's financial statements.
 
(3) For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and September 30, 2005 consists of fees for professional services rendered in connection with preparation of

federal and state income tax returns, including foreign tax filings, and assistance with foreign tax structuring.
 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company considered that the provision of the services and the payment of the fees described above are compatible
with maintaining the independence of McGladrey & Pullen, LLP.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and pre-approving any non-audit services to be performed by the Company's independent auditors. The Audit Committee
has delegated its pre-approval authority to the Chairman of the Audit Committee to act between meetings of the Audit Committee. Any pre-approval given by the Chairman
of the Audit Committee pursuant to this delegation is presented to the full Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting. The Audit Committee or Chairman of
the Audit Committee reviews and, if appropriate, approves non-audit service engagements, taking into account the proposed scope of the non-audit services, the proposed
fees for the non-audit services, whether the non-audit services are permissible under applicable law or regulation and the likely impact of the non-audit services on the
independence of the independent auditors.

Each new engagement of the Company's independent auditors to perform non-audit services set forth in the table above has been approved in advance by the Audit
Committee or the Chairman of the Audit Committee pursuant to the foregoing procedures.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

Date: December 29, 2005                                                                 THE FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY

BY:   /s/ O.B. Parrish                                              
O.B. Parrish, Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer

BY:   /s/ Robert R. Zic                                           
Robert R. Zic,
Principal Accounting Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below hereby appoints O.B. Parrish and Robert R. Zic, and each of them individually, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact,
with power to act with or without the other and with full power of substitution and resubstitution, in any and all capacities, to sign any or all amendments to the Form 10-
KSB and file the same with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-
in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents
and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their substitutes, may lawfully cause to be done
by virtue hereof.

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date
indicated.

         Signature Title Date
/s/ O.B. Parrish Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer and Director December 29, 2005
O.B. Parrish   
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 Director December ___, 2005
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/s/ Michael R. Walton Director December 28, 2005
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/s/ Mary Margaret Frank   
 Mary Margaret Frank Director December 27, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
Chicago, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries, as of September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provided a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Female Health Company and
Subsidiaries as of September 30, 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Schaumburg, Illinois                                /s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP
November 21, 2005
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Balance Sheet
September 30, 2005
 

Assets    
Current Assets     

Cash  $ 1,775,066 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts      

of $58,000   2,040,476 
Inventories   883,709 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   344,383 

Total current assets   5,043,634 
     
Other Assets      

Certificate of deposit   47,934 
Patents, net of accumulated amortization of $1,079,405   43,809 
Other   185,625 

   277,368 
     
Equipment, Furniture and Fixtures     
     

Equipment not yet in service   207,819 
     

Equipment, furniture and fixtures   4,556,277 
Less accumulated depreciation   4,405,947 

   358,149 
     
  $ 5,679,151 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity     
Current Liabilities      

Accounts payable  $ 559,414 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   664,709 
Preferred dividends payable   11,201 

Total current liabilities   1,235,324 
     
     
Deferred gain on sale of facility   1,134,003 
     
Stockholders' Equity     

Convertible preferred stock, Class A Series 1, par value $.01 per share;     
authorized 5,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 56,000 shares   560 

Convertible preferred stock, Class A Series 3, par value $.01 per share;     
authorized 700,000 shares; issued and outstanding 473,377 shares   4,734 

Convertible preferred stock, Class B, par value $.50 per share;     
authorized 15,000 shares; no shares issued and outstanding   - 

Common stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 38,500,000     
shares; issued and outstanding 23,497,334 shares   234,973 

Additional paid-in capital   62,836,236 
Unearned consulting fees   (105,449)
Accumulated other comprehensive income   315,075 
Accumulated deficit   (59,944,229)

   3,341,900 
Treasury stock, at cost, 20,000 shares of common stock   (32,076)

   3,309,824 
     
  $ 5,679,151 
     

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended September 30, 2005 and 2004

  2005  2004  
      
Net revenues  $ 11,161,555 $ 8,982,074 
        
Cost of products sold   6,370,155  5,359,781 
        

Gross profit   4,791,400  3,622,293 
        
Operating expenses:        

Advertising and promotion   123,103  47,601 
Selling, general and administrative   5,705,775  4,463,018 
Research and development costs   273,776  179,201 

Total operating expenses   6,102,654  4,689,820 
        

Operating loss   (1,311,254)  (1,067,527)
        
Nonoperating income (expense):        

Interest expense   (53,752)  (894,385)
Interest income   23,453  6,967 
Foreign currency transaction loss   (14,103)  (63,943)

   (44,402)  (951,361)
        

Net loss   (1,355,656)  (2,018,888)
        
Preferred dividends, Class A Series 1   11,201  11,456 
Preferred dividends, Class A Series 3   150,006  95,545 
        

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (1,516,863) $ (2,125,889)

        
Net loss per basic and diluted common share outstanding  $ (0.07) $ (0.11)

        
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding   23,094,868  19,925,716 
 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Years Ended September 2005 and 2004
 
  Class A  Class A            Accumulated        
  Series 1  Series 3  Preferred    Additional  Unearned    Other    Cost of    
  Preferred  Preferred  Stock  Common  Paid-in  Consulting  Deferred  Comprehensive Accumulated  Treasury    
  Stock  Stock  Class B  Stock  Capital  Fees  Compensation Income  Deficit  Stock  Total  
                        
Balance at September 30, 2003  $ 560 $ - $ - $ 195,250 $ 56,421,553 $ (182,045) $ - $ 391,366 $ (56,301,476) $ (32,076) $ 493,132 

Issuance of 473,377 shares of Preferred
Stock   -  4 ,734  -  -  1,495,868  -  -  -  -  -  1,500,602 

Issuance of 41,000 shares of Common
Stock for consulting services   -  -  -  410  72,160  (72,570)  -  -  -  -  - 

Issuance of 53,250 shares of Common
Stock upon exercise of stock options   -  -  -  532  74,018  -  -  -  -  -  74,550 

Issuance of 5,388 shares of Common
Stock upon cashless exercise of
6,667 stock options

 
 -  -  -  54  (54)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Issuance of 75,000 restricted shares
of Common Stock   -  -  -  750  175,500  -  (176,250)  -  

 
-  -  - 

Issuance of 2,500 unrestricted shares
of Common Stock   -  -  -  23  6,750  -  -  -  -  -  6,773 

    Issuance of 95,008 shares of Common
Stock upon cashless exercise
of 138,750 stock warrants

 
 -  -  -  950  (950)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Issuance of warrants with note payable,
bank   -  -  -  -  51,961  -  -  -  -  -  51,961 

Issuance of 823,000 shares of Common
Stock upon exercise of stock
warrants

 
 -  -  -  8,230  984,371  -  -  -  -  -  92,601 

Issuance of 45,303 shares of Common
Stock as payment of preferred stock
dividends

 
 -  -  -  453  95,033  -  -  -  -  -  95,486 

Issuance of 50,000 shares of Common
Stock as incentive for exercise of
stock warrants

 
 -  -  -  500  74,500  -  -  -  -  -  75,000 

Preferred Stock dividends   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (107,001)  -  (107,001)

Amortization of deferred compensation   -  -  -  -  -  -  176,250  -  -  -  176,250 
Amortization of unearned consulting

fees   -  -  -  -  -  185,068  -  -  -  -  185,068 
Comprehensive income (loss):                                   

Net (loss)   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2,018,888)  -  (2,018,888)
Foreign currency translation

adjustment   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  299,823  -  -  299,823 
Forgiveness of inter-company debt   -  -  -  -  249,555  -  -  (249,555)  -  -  - 

Comprehensive income (loss)                                                            (1,719,065)

                                  
Balance at September 30, 2004  $ 560 $ 4,734 $ - $ 207,152 $ 59,700,265 $ (69,547) $ - $ 441,634 $ (58,427,365) $ (32,076) $ 1,825,357 
                                   
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity
Years Ended September 2005 and 2004

  Class A  Class A            Accumulated        
  Series 1  Series 3  Preferred    Additional  Unearned    Other    Cost of    
  Preferred  Preferred  Stock  Common  Paid-in  Consulting  Deferred  Comprehensive Accumulated  Treasury    
  Stock  Stock  Class B  Stock  Capital  Fees  Compensation Income  Deficit  Stock  Total  
                        
Balance at September 30, 2004

(balance forwarded)  $ 560 $ 4,734 $ - $ 207,152 $ 59,700,265 $ (69,547) $ - $ 441,634 $ (58,427,365) $ (32,076) $ 1,825,357 
Issuance of 275,000 shares of

Common Stock for consulting
services

 
 -  -  -  2,750  421,000  (423,750)  -  -  -  -  - 

Issuance of 3,000 shares of
Common Stock upon exercise of
stock options

 
 -  -  -  30  4,170  -  -  -  -  -  4,200 

Issuance of 113,500 restricted
shares of Common Stock   -  -  -  1,135  197,672  -  (198,807)  -  -  -  - 

Issuance of 2,200,000 shares of
Common Stock upon exercise of
stock warrants

 
 -  -  -  22,000  2,023,000  -  -  -  -  -  2,045,000 

Issuance of 90,647 shares of
Common Stock as payment of
preferred stock dividends

 
 -  -  -  906  149,053  -  -  -  -  -  149,959 

Issuance of 100,000 shares of
Common Stock as incentive for
exercise of stock warrants

 
 -  -  -  1,000  171,400  -  -  -  -  -  172,400 

Issuance of 240,000 Common
Stock warrants as incentive for
exercise of stock warrants

 
 -  -  -  -  169,676  -  -  -  -  -  169,676 

Preferred Stock dividends   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (161,207)  -  (161,207)
Amortization of deferred

compensation   -  -  -  -  -  -  198,807  -  -  -  198,807 
Amortization of unearned

consulting fees   -  -  -  -  -  387,848  -  -  -  -  387,848 
Comprehensive income (loss):                                   

Net (loss)   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,355,656)  -  (1,355,656)
Foreign currency translation

adjustment   -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (126,559)  -  -  (126,559)

Comprehensive income (loss)                                   (1,482,215)
                                   
Balance at September 30, 2005  $ 560 $ 4,734 $ - $ 234,973 $ 62,836,236 $ (105,449) $ - $ 315,075 $ (59,944,228) $ (32,076) $ 3,309,825 
                                   
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 30, 2005 and 2004
 
  2005  2004  
      
Operating Activities        

Net loss  $ (1,355,656) $ (2,018,888)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash        

used in operating activities:        
Depreciation   56,950  241,148 
Amortization of patents   136,818  132,947 
(Recovery of) increase in inventory obsolescence   (3,356)  12,805 
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts,

returns and discounts   47,561  554 
Interest added to certificate of deposit   (2,802)  (3,573)
Amortization of unearned consulting fees   387,848  185,068 
Amortization of discounts on notes payable   46,252  678,135 
Amortization of deferred income realized on UK grant   -  (48,503)
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaseback        

of building   (105,071)  (102,098)
Common stock issued to employees   198,807  199,578 
Stock compensation   342,076  75,000 
Loss on sale of equipment and furniture and fixtures   -  7,796 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Accounts receivable   (705,118)  779,228 
Inventories   523,406  (235,202)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (93,258)  (22,962)
Accounts payable   169,539  5,458 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   156,746  (103,255)

Net cash used in operating activities   (199,258)  (216,764)
        
Investing Activities        

Decrease in restricted cash   -  129,074 
Proceeds from maturity of certificate of deposit   27,062  27,600 
Capital expenditures   (251,687)  (43,990)
Proceeds on sale of equipment and furniture and fixtures   -  3,404 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (224,625)  116,088 
        
Financing Activities        

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock   -  1,500,602 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   4,200  74,550 
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants   2,045,000  992,601 
Payments on note payable, bank   (500,000)  (1,400,000)
Payments on note payable, related party   -  (1,000,000)
Dividend paid on preferred stock   (7,206)  (11,200)
Payments on capital lease obligations   (21,980)  (34,730)

Net cash provided by financing activities   1,520,014  121,823 
        

(continued)
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended September 2005 and 2004 (continued)
 
      
  2005  2004  
      
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  $ (76,547) $ 102,040 
        

Net increase in cash   1,019,584  123,187 
        
Cash at beginning of year   755,482  632,295 
        
Cash at end of year  $ 1,775,066 $ 755,482 
        
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:        

Interest paid  $ 7,500 $ 210,766 
        
Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:        

Issuance of warrants on notes payable  $ - $ 51,961 
Common stock issued for payment of preferred stock dividends   149,959  95,486 
Preferred dividends declared   11,201  11,456 

 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
 
Principles of consolidation and nature of operations: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, The
Female Health Company - UK and The Female Health Company - UK, plc. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.
The Female Health Company ("FHC" or the "Company") is currently engaged in the marketing, manufacture and distribution of a consumer health care product known as
the “FC Female Condom” in the U.S., and "femidom" or "femy" outside the U.S. The Female Health Company - UK, is the holding company of The Female Health
Company - UK, plc, which operates a 40,000 sq. ft. leased manufacturing facility located in London, England.

The product is currently sold or available in either or both commercial (private sector) and public sector markets in 87 countries. The product is marketed in 14 countries by
various country-specific commercial partners. The Company’s credit terms are primarily on a net 30-day basis.

Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and use assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Significant accounting estimates include the following:

The market value of inventory is based on management's best estimate of future sales and the time remaining before the existing inventories reach their expiration dates.

The Company evaluates patents for impairment by comparing the net present value of the asset's estimated future income stream to the asset's carrying value.

Although management uses the best information available, it is reasonably possible that the estimates used by the Company will be materially different from the actual
results. These differences could have a material effect on the Company's future results of operations and financial condition.

Accounts receivable and credit risk: Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all
outstanding amounts on a periodic basis. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying troubled accounts and by using historical experience
applied to an aging of accounts. Management also periodically evaluates individual customer receivables and considers a customer’s financial condition, credit history, and
the current economic conditions. Accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when
received.

A significant portion of the Company’s product is being sold to developing countries and the stability of the political environment within these countries could have a
material effect on the operations of the Company.

F-8



The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories are also written down for
management’s estimates of product which will not sell prior to its expiration date. Write downs of inventories establish a new cost basis which is not increased for future
increases in the market value of inventories or changes in estimated obsolescence.
 
Foreign currency translation: In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation, the financial statements of the Company's
international subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rate at each balance sheet date for assets and liabilities, the historical exchange rate for
stockholders' equity and a weighted average exchange rate for each period for revenues, expenses, and gains and losses. Translation adjustments are recorded as a separate
component of stockholders' equity as the local currency is the functional currency.

Equipment and furniture and fixtures: Depreciation and amortization are computed using primarily the straight-line method. Depreciation and amortization are computed
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets which range as follows:

Equipment    5 - 10 years
Furniture and fixtures   3 years

Depreciation on leased assets and leasehold improvements is computed over the lesser of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets. Depreciation
on leased assets is included with depreciation on owned assets.

Patents and trademarks: The Company currently holds product and technology patents on the female condom in the United States, Japan, the United Kingdom, France, Italy,
Germany, Spain, the European Patent Convention, Canada, the People’s Republic of China, Brazil, South Korea and Australia. The Company has the registered trademark
"FC Female Condom" in the United States and has trademarks on the names "femidom," "femy," “Reality,” and others in certain foreign countries. Patents are amortized on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 12 years. Trademarks have no carrying value in the accompanying balance sheet at September 30, 2005.

Financial instruments: The Company has no financial instruments for which the carrying value materially differs from fair value.

Research and development costs: Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. The amount of costs expensed for the years ended September 30, 2005 and
2004, was approximately $274,000 and $179,000, respectively.

Revenue recognition: The Company recognizes revenue from product sales when each of the following conditions have been met: an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, there is a fixed price, and collectibility is reasonably assured.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
Stock-based compensation: The value of stock options awarded to employees is measured using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25 (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. Accordingly, no stock-based compensation cost has been recognized, as all
options granted under the Company’s stock option plans had an exercise price equal to or greater than the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.
The following table illustrates the effect on net losses and losses per share had compensation cost for all of the stock-based compensation plans been determined based on
the grant date fair values of awards (the method prescribed by Financial Accounting Standard No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation):

  Year Ended September 30,  
  2005  2004  
      
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, as reported  $ (1,516,863) $ (2,125,889)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense        

determined under fair-value-based method for all awards   (824,930)  (769,480)
        
Pro forma net loss  $ (2,341,793) $ (2,895,369)

        
Basic and diluted loss per common share:        

As reported  $ (0.07) $ (0.11)
        

Pro forma  $ (0.10) $ (0.15)

Advertising: The Company's policy is to expense production costs in the period in which the advertisement is initially presented to consumers.

Income taxes: The Company files separate income tax returns for its foreign subsidiaries. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes (FAS 109), requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial
statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statements and tax bases of
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are also provided for carryforwards for
income tax purposes. In addition, the amount of any future tax benefits is reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent such benefits are not expected to be realized.

Earnings per share (EPS): Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the period. Diluted EPS is computed giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares that were outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common shares consist
of the incremental common shares issuable upon conversion of convertible preferred shares or convertible debt and the exercise of stock options and warrants for all
periods. The Company’s dilutive potential common shares were 2,836,472 for the twelve months ended September 30, 2005 and 5,596,617 for the twelve months ended
September 30, 2004.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
Other comprehensive income: Accounting principles generally require that recognized revenue, expenses, gains and losses be included in net income. Although certain
changes in assets and liabilities, such as foreign currency translation adjustments, are reported as a separate component of the equity section of the balance sheet, such
items, along with net income, are components of comprehensive income.

During the 4th quarter of 2004, the Company recorded an adjustment of $249,555 to comprehensive loss. This adjustment relates to the forgiveness of intercompany debt.

Over the years, the Parent Company has financed the operations of its subsidiaries through an intercompany loan with The Female Health Company, plc. which was
eliminated upon consolidation. The Company has designated the intercompany loan to be long-term in nature as prescribed by FAS 52. Further, the Company followed the
guidance of FAS 52 paragraph 20. b. when translating the subsidiary’s balance sheet for consolidation purposes. This paragraph states that “gains and losses on
intercompany foreign currency transactions that are of a long-term investment nature (that is, settlement is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future) would not be
included in the computation of net income when the entities to the transaction are consolidated.”

The Parent Company forgave a portion of this loan and needed to adjust accumulated other comprehensive income on the balance sheet for the cumulative amount of
foreign currency adjustments relating to this portion of the intercompany loan.

Since the currency effect of the change in the intercompany debt flowed through comprehensive income (loss) as income while the debt was outstanding, the Company
recorded the currency effect of the debt forgiveness through comprehensive income (loss) as an expense when the debt was forgiven.

New accounting pronouncements: The Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised), Share-Based
Payment. SFAS 123(R) is a replacement of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, and its related interpretive guidance.

SFAS 123(R) requires that the compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in financial statements. That cost will be measured based on
the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. The effect of the standard will be to require entities to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange
for stock options based on the grant-date fair value of the award, and to recognize the cost over the period the employee is required to provide services for the award.

The Company will be required to apply Statement 123(R) as of the beginning of its interim reporting period that begins January 1, 2006.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
 
SFAS 123(R) allows two methods for determining the effects of the transition: the modified prospective transition method and the modified retrospective method of
transition. Under the modified prospective transition method, an entity would use the fair value-based accounting method for all employee awards granted, modified, or
settled after the effective date. As of the effective date, compensation cost related to the nonvested portion of awards outstanding as of that date would be based on the grant-
date fair value of those awards as calculated under the original provisions of Statement No. 123; that is, an entity would not remeasure the grant-date fair value estimate of
the unvested portion of awards granted prior to the effective date of the final Statement. Under the modified retrospective method of transition, an entity would recognize
employee compensation cost for prior periods presented in accordance with the original provisions of Statement No. 123; that is, an entity would recognize employee
compensation cost in the amounts reported in the pro forma disclosures provided in accordance with Statement No. 123.

The Company will elect the modified prospective transition method. Under this method, the Company estimates that the adoption of FAS 123(R) will require the Company
to record approximately $378,000 of stock compensation expense in the year ending September 30, 2006, related to employee options issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2005.

Reclassifications: Certain items in the 2004 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentation. The reclassifications have had no effect on the
net loss for the year then ended.
 
Note 2. Inventories
 
The components of inventory consist of the following at September 30, 2005:

Raw materials  $ 511,551 
Work in process   182,656 
Finished goods   214,028 
Less allowance for obsolescence   (24,526)
  $ 883,709 
     
 
Note 3. Acquired Intangible Asset
 
The Company follows SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The following is a summary of acquired intangible assets at September 30, 2005:

  Gross    
  Carrying  Accumulated  
  Amount  Amortization  
      
Subject to amortization:        

Patents  $ 1,123,214 $ 1,079,405 
 
Amortization expense recognized on all amortizable intangible assets totaled $136,818 and $132,947 for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Estimated aggregate amortization expense for the year ending September 30, 2006, is $43,809.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 4. Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt
 
During 2003, the Company renewed a $1,000,000 note with Mr. Dearholt, a current director of the Company. The outstanding note payable bears interest at 12 percent and
was payable in full in March 2004. As part of the transaction, the Company issued Mr. Dearholt warrants to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at
$1.20 per share which represented 80 percent of the average trading price for the five trading days prior to the closing date for the transaction and resulted in an initial
discount on the note of $278,400. Any stock issued under the warrants carries certain registration rights. The warrants expire in 2016. The discount, in combination with the
note’s 12 percent coupon, resulted in an effective interest rate of 48 percent on the note. On February 29, 2004, the Company paid off the entire balance of the note.

On May 19, 2004, the Company amended its previous credit facility and two line of credit agreements with Heartland Bank and established three promissory notes totaling
$2,500,000. The first promissory note replaces the previous credit facility, and had an initial outstanding balance of $1,000,000, bears interest payable at a rate of 10 percent
per year and extended the due date of the credit facility to July 1, 2006. Related to this renewal the Company issued the Heartland Bank warrants to purchase 50,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock at $2.65 per share. The warrants were valued at $51,961 and these were recorded by the Company as additional paid-in capital and a
discount on the credit facility.

As of September 30, 2004, the Company had $500,000 remaining due under this credit facility. The credit facility is recorded at September 30, 2004, net of unamortized
discount of $46,252. The remaining due amount of $500,000 was paid off as part of the warrant exercise program discussed in detail in Note 7, Common Stock Purchase
Warrants.

Presently, the Company has two revolving notes with Heartland Bank that allow the Company to borrow up to $1,500,000 and expire July 1, 2006. The two notes total
$1,500,000 and bear interest payable at a rate of prime plus 2% (prime rate was 6.75% at September 30, 2005). No new warrants were issued as part of the extension of
these notes. These notes are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company.  No amounts are outstanding under the revolving notes at September 30, 2005.

Interest expense to related parties was $53,752 and $894,385 for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 5. Operating Leases and Rental Expense
 
The Company has a lease agreement for office space with an unrelated third party which expires September 2006. The lease requires monthly payments of $6,055 plus real
estate taxes, utilities, and maintenance expenses. The Company was required to make an initial security deposit of $115,000 which has been reduced to $23,000 in October
2004. The security deposit is in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit from a bank. The bank presently requires the Company to hold a $23,000 certificate of deposit as
collateral for the letter of credit.
 
On December 10, 1996, the Company entered into what is in essence a sale and leaseback agreement with respect to its 40,000 square foot manufacturing facility located in
London, England. The Company received $3,365,000 (£1,950,000) for leasing the facility to a third party for a nominal annual rental charge and for providing the third
party with an option to purchase the facility for one pound during the period December 2006 to December 2027.
 
As part of the same transaction, the Company entered into an agreement to lease the facility back from the third party for base rents of $474,474 (£268,125) per year payable
quarterly until 2016. The lease is renewable through December 2027. The Company was also required to make an initial security deposit of $396,021 (£268,125) which has
been reduced to $172,536 (£97,500) and is included in other assets in the balance sheet at September 30, 2005. The facility had a net book value of $1,398,819 (£810,845)
on the date of the transaction. The $1,966,181 (£1,139,155) gain which resulted from this transaction will be recognized ratably over the initial term of the lease.
Unamortized deferred gain as of September 30, 2005, was $1,134,003 (£697,777).
 
On June 1, 2005, the Company entered into a lease agreement to utilize 1900 square feet of a facility located in Selangor D.E., Malaysia for warehousing and manufacturing
FC2. The lease requires an annual payment of $6,840 and the lease expires May 31, 2006. The lease shall automatically renew for an additional six month period, unless
either party gives written notice of termination. The Company was not required to make an initial security deposit.

The Company also leases equipment under a lease agreement which expires in March 2006. The aggregate monthly rental was $943 at September 30, 2005.

Details of operating lease expense, including real estate taxes and insurance, are as follows:

  September 30,  
  2005  2004  
      
Operating lease expense:        

Factory and office leases  $ 856,525 $ 788,723 
Other   11,314  11,007 

  $ 867,839 $ 799,730 
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 5. Operating Leases and Rental Expense (continued)
 
Future minimum payments under operating leases consisted of the following at September 30, 2005:

  Operating  
  Leases  
    
2006  $ 587,082 
2007   494,664 
2008   494,664 
2009   494,664 
2010   494,664 
Thereafter   3,069,993 
Total minimum payments  $ 5,635,731 
     
 
Note 6. Income Taxes
 
A reconciliation of income tax expense and the amount computed by applying the statutory Federal income tax rate to loss before income taxes as of September 30, 2005
and 2004, is as follows:

  September 30,  
  2005  2004  
      
Income tax credit at statutory rates  $ (461,000) $ (686,000)
Nondeductible expenses   66,000  42,000 
State income tax, net of federal benefits   (64,000)  (96,000)
Benefit of net operating loss not recognized, increase in        

valuation allowance   459,000  740,000 
  $ - $ - 

        

As of September 30, 2005, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $45,966,000 and $27,196,000, respectively, for income tax
purposes expiring in years 2010 to 2025. The benefit relating to $1,537,800 of these net operating losses relates to exercise of common stock options and will be credited
directly to stockholders' equity when realized. The Company also has investment tax and research and development credit carryforwards for income tax purposes
aggregating approximately $127,000 at September 30, 2005, expiring in years 2006 to 2010. The Company's UK subsidiary, The Female Health Company - UK, plc has UK
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $85,099,000 as of September 30, 2005. These UK net operating loss carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely to
be used to offset future UK taxable income.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 6. Income Taxes (continued)
 
Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows at September 30, 2005:

Deferred tax assets:    
Federal net operating loss carryforwards  $ 15,629,000 
State net operating loss carryforwards   1,360,000 
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards   28,933,000 
Foreign capital allowances   416,000 
Tax credit carryforwards   127,000 
Other   34,000 

Total gross deferred tax assets   46,499,000 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets   46,499,000 
Net deferred tax assets  $ - 
 
The valuation allowance increased by $5,942,000 and $3,667,000 for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
 
Note 7. Common Stock
 
Stock Option Plans

The Company has various stock option plans that authorize the granting of options to officers, key employees and directors to purchase the Company's common stock at
prices generally equal to the market value of the stock at the date of grant. Under these plans, the Company has 174,528 shares available for future grants as of
September 30, 2005. The Company has also granted options to one of its legal counsel, an affiliate and consultants. Certain options are vested and exercisable upon issuance
and others vest over periods up to three years.

Summarized information regarding all of the Company's stock options is as follows:
    Weighted  
    Average  
  Number of  Exercise  
  Shares  Price  
      
Outstanding at September 30, 2003   2,665,980 $ 1.38 

Granted   10,000  2.47 
Exercised   (59,917)  1.31 
Expired or canceled   (38,333)  1.80 

        
Outstanding at September 30, 2004   2,577,730 $ 1.38 

Granted   195,000  1.72 
Exercised   (3,000)  1.40 
Expired or canceled   (108,750)  1.90 

       
Outstanding at September 30, 2005   2,660,980 $ 1.39 
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 7. Common Stock (Continued)
 
Option shares exercisable at September 30, 2005 and 2004, are 2,070,051 and 1,279,017, respectively, at weighted average exercise prices of $1.36 and $1.34, respectively.

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

   Number  Wghted. Avg.  Wghted. Avg.  Number  Wghted. Avg.  
 Exercise  Outstanding  Remaining  Exercise  Exercisable  Exercise  
 Price  At 9/30/05  Life  Price  At 9/30/05  Price  
             
 $ 0.66   150,000  6.25 $ 0.66  150,000 $ 0.66 
 1.40   2,305,980  7.58  1.40  1,853,366  1.40 
 1.66   180,000  9.06  1.66  56,219  1.66 
 2.40   15,000  8.83  2.40  5,836  2.40 
 2.70   10,000  8.61  2.70  4,630  2.70 
    2,660,980  7.62 $ 1.39  2,070,051 $ 1.36 
 
The Company granted 195,000 options in 2005 and 10,000 options in 2004 to employees and outside board of directors with exercise prices equal to fair market value of the
Company’s stock at the date of grant. Therefore, no compensation expense was recognized related to these options under APB 25 at the date of grant.

The weighted average fair value of employee options granted for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, was $1.33 and $2.10, respectively. The fair value of options
was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model assuming expected volatilities ranging from 47.9 percent to 52.8 percent, respectively, and
risk-free interest rates ranging from 3.98 percent to 4.78 percent, respectively, expected lives of three years and no dividend yield for the years ended September 30, 2005
and 2004.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable.
Because the Company's employee stock options have characteristics different from those of traded options, and because changes in the input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate, the model may not provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock options.

Common Stock Purchase Warrants

The Company enters into consulting agreements with separate third-party professionals to provide investor relations services and financial advisory services. In connection
with the consulting agreements, the Company has historically granted warrants to purchase common stock, although none were issued in 2004 or 2005.
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 7. Common Stock (Continued)
 
In an effort to generate funds for operating needs and to retire outstanding debt, between September 2004 and January 2005, the Company conducted a program to induce
the holders of the Company’s outstanding common stock purchase warrants to exercise their warrants. Pursuant to this program, the Company offered an incentive to such
holders providing for issuance of (1) shares of the Company’s common stock equal to 10% of the aggregate number of common stock purchase warrants exercised or (2)
new common stock purchase warrants equal to 20% of the aggregate number of outstanding warrants exercised containing an exercise price per share equal to the closing
price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the OTC Bulletin Board on the date the holder committed to exercise the outstanding warrants. Under this incentive
program, one investor exercised 500,000 warrants as of September 30, 2004 and received 550,000 shares of common stock which includes 50,000 incentive shares. The
shares were valued at $75,000 and the shares were recorded by the Company in selling, general and administrative expense.

Between October 2004 and January 2005 four investors opted to exercise 1,000,000 warrants and receive 1,100,000 shares of common stock which includes 100,000
incentive shares and two investors opted to exercise 1,200,000 warrants and received 1,200,000 shares of common stock and 240,000 incentive warrants with an exercise
price in each case of $1.50 per share and an expiration date of November 23, 2007. Among the seven persons participating in this program were three of the Company’s
directors. The Company received aggregate proceeds of $2.5 million from the exercise of the outstanding warrants. The incentive shares and warrants were valued at
$342,076 and recorded by the Company in selling, general and administrative expense.

As a result of the inducement program, during 2005, 2,200,000 warrants were exercised. At September 30, 2005, the following warrants were outstanding and exercisable:

  Number  
  Outstanding  
    
Warrants issued in connection with:     

Convertible debentures   2,150,000 
Convertible preferred stock   30,900 
Note payable, bank   340,000 
Notes payable, related party   2,039,000 
Outstanding at September 30, 2005   4,559,900 

Warrants Outstanding and Exercisable

Range of  Number   Wghted. Avg.  Wghted. Avg.  
Exercise  Outstanding  Remaining    Exercise     

Prices
 

At 9/30/05 
   
 Life         Price       

        
$0.40 to $0.50   364,000  4.48 $ 0.40 

0.51 to 1.00   2,575,000  2.05  0.96 
1.01 to 3.00   1,620,900  3.57  1.72 

   4,559,900  2.78 $ 1.19 
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The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 7. Common Stock (Continued)
 
Issuance of Stock

The Company has issued common stock to consultants for providing investor relation services. In 2004, the Company issued 41,000 shares of common stock with a market
value of $72,570 which was recorded as unearned consulting fees and is being recognized over the term of the agreement. In 2005, the Company issued 275,000 shares of
common stock with a market value of $423,750 which was recorded as unearned consulting fees and is being recognized over the terms of the agreement. In the past the
Company also issued options to purchase shares of its common stock. In 2004 and 2005, the Company did not issue any additional options for providing investor relation
services.

Stock Based Compensation Expense

The Company has issued common stock to outside consultants, issued common stock or common stock purchase warrants to certain warrant holders and restrictive common
stock to employees. Total stock-based compensation was $928,731 and $459,646 for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is included in selling,
general and administrative expenses in the statements of operations.
 
Note 8. Preferred Stock
 
The Company has 56,000 outstanding shares of 8 percent cumulative convertible Series 1 Preferred Stock. Each share of preferred stock is convertible into one share of the
Company's common stock. Annual preferred stock dividends will be paid if and as declared by the Company's Board of Directors. No dividends or other distributions will
be payable on the Company's common stock unless dividends are paid in full on the Series 1 Preferred Stock. The Series 1 Preferred Stock may be redeemed at the option of
FHC, in whole or in part, subject to certain conditions, at $2.50 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends. In the event of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, the
Series 1 Preferred Stock would have priority over the Company's common stock.

The Company issued 473,377 shares of Series 3 Preferred Stock to eleven investors during February 2004 and received $1,500,602 in proceeds. Each share of Series 3
Preferred Stock is convertible at any time into one share of the Company’s common stock. Holders of shares of the Series 3 Preferred Stock are entitled to cumulative
dividends in preference to any dividend on the Company’s common stock at the rate of 10 percent of the original issuance price ($3.17 per share) per annum, payable
quarterly at the Company’s option in cash or shares of the Company’s common stock. If dividends are paid in shares of common stock, the dividend rate will be equal to 95
percent of the average of the closing sales prices of the common stock on the five trading days preceding the dividend reference date. The dividend reference date means
January 1, April 1, July 1, October 1 of each year. In the event of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, the Series 3 Preferred Stock would have priority over the
Company’s common stock and holders of any other series of preferred stock of the Company. The Company may redeem any share of Series 3 Preferred Stock at any time
that is after the second anniversary of the date of issuance of the share, provided that the redemption may not occur until the first day on or after the second anniversary of
the date of issuance of such share in which the market value of the Company’s common stock is at least 150 percent of the original issuance price of $3.17 per share. The
liquidation preference on the Series 3 Preferred Stock is $3.17 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 9. Employee Benefit Plans
 
Employee retirement plan:
The Company has a Simple Individual Retirement Account (IRA) plan for its employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan if their compensation reaches
certain minimum levels and are allowed to contribute up to a maximum of $8,000 annual compensation to the plan. The Company has elected to match 100 percent of
employee contributions to the plan up to a maximum of 3 percent of employee compensation for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Company contributions
were approximately $23,000 and $19,000 for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Bonus and retention program:
During 2004, the Company implemented a new management compensation and employee retention program. The program provided for the issuance of 75,000 shares of
restricted common stock as a bonus to senior management with a market value of $176,250. As of October 1, 2004, the restricted legend was removed. Under the terms of
the retention program, employees were granted 7,750 shares of common stock as a retention bonus with a market value of $23,328, in which 2,250 shares have been issued
and 5,500 shares have been deferred until a UK employee tax restriction lapses. Total expense for these bonus awards was approximately $200,000 and is included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the statement of operations for the year ended September 30, 2004.

During 2005, the program provided for the issuance of 80,000 shares of restricted common stock as a bonus to senior management with a market value of $120,000. As of
October 1, 2005, the restricted legend was removed. Under the terms of the retention program, employees were granted 13,500 shares of common stock as a retention bonus
with a market value of $29,307.

In addition, the Company issued 20,000 shares to new employees during the year ended September 30, 2005. Total expense for these awards was approximately $49,500.

Total expense for all 2005 awards was $198,807 and is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the statement of operations for the year ended September
30, 2005.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Note 10. Industry Segments and Financial Information About Foreign and Domestic Operations
 
The Company currently operates primarily in one industry segment which includes the development, manufacture and marketing of consumer health care products.

The Company operates in foreign and domestic regions. Information about the Company's operations by geographic area is as follows.
 
(Amounts in Thousands)  Net Sales to     
  External Customers   Long-Term Assets  
  September 30,   September 30,  
  2005    2004    2005  2004  
              
United States  $ 2,280    $ 2,373    $ 95 $ 103 
South Africa   2,140 (1)    499     -  - 
Botswana   1,050     *     -  - 
France   849     1,144  (1)    -  - 
Zimbabwe   697     1,480  (1)    -  - 
Congo   *     489     -  - 
Kenya   *     698     -  - 
United Kingdom   *     *     541  502 
Other   4,146     2,299     -  - 
  $ 11,162   $ 8,982   $ 636 $ 605 
* Less than 5 percent of total net sales                    
                    
(1) Comprised of a single customer considered to be a major customer (exceeds 10% of net sales).

 
Note 11. Contingent Liabilities
 
The testing, manufacturing and marketing of consumer products by the Company entail an inherent risk that product liability claims will be asserted against the Company.
The Company maintains product liability insurance coverage for claims arising from the use of its products. The coverage amount is currently $5,000,000 for FHC's
consumer health care product.

 
Note 12. Related Parties
 
It has been and currently is the policy of the Company that transactions between the Company and its officers, directors, principal stockholders or affiliates are to be on
terms no less favorable to the Company than could be obtained from unaffiliated parties. The Company intends that any future transactions between the Company and its
officers, directors, principal stockholders or affiliates will be approved by a majority of the directors who are not financially interested in the transaction.
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Exhibit 10.78

AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT is dated as of October 1, 2005 by and between THE
FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY, a Wisconsin corporation (the "Company"), and O.B. PARRISH (the "Executive").

RECITALS

A. The Company and Executive have previously entered into a Change of Control Agreement governing the terms of Executive's
employment relationship with the Company in the event of the possibility, threat or occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below) of the
Company. Executive and the Company desire to amend and restate such Change of Control Agreement in accordance with the terms and
conditions hereof.

B. The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders to assure that the Company will have the continued dedication of the Executive, notwithstanding the possibility, threat or
occurrence of a Change of Control of the Company.

C. The Board believes it is imperative to diminish the inevitable distraction of the Executive by virtue of the personal uncertainties and
risks created by a pending or threatened Change of Control and to encourage the Executive's full attention and dedication to the Company
currently and in the event of any threatened or pending Change of Control, and to provide the Executive with compensation and benefit
arrangements upon a Change of Control which ensure that the compensation and benefit expectations of the Executive will be satisfied and
which are competitive with those of other corporations.

D. In order to accomplish the objectives of the Board summarized in these recitals, the Board has caused the Company to enter into this
Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

In consideration of the recitals and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:



1. Definitions. For the sole and exclusive purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

(a) Effective Date. The "Effective Date" means the first date during the Change of Control Period on which a Change of Control
occurs. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if a Change of Control occurs and Executive's employment with the
Company (or, if applicable, its subsidiary) or this Agreement was terminated prior to the date on which the Change of Control occurs, and if it
is reasonably demonstrated by the Executive that such termination of employment or of this Agreement (i) was at the request of a third party
who has taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change of Control or (ii) otherwise arose in connection with or anticipation of a Change of
Control, then for all purposes of this Agreement the "Effective Date" shall mean the date immediately prior to the date of such termination of
employment or purported termination of this Agreement.

(b) Change of Control Period. The "Change of Control Period" means the period commencing on the date of a Change of Control
and ending on the third anniversary thereafter.

(c) Change of Control. "Change of Control" means any of the following:

(i) The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) (a "Person") of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of either [a] the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding
Company Common Stock") or [b] the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the "Outstanding Company Voting Securities"); provided, however, that the following acquisitions shall
not constitute a Change of Control: [i] any acquisition directly from the Company, [ii] any acquisition by the Company, [iii] any acquisition by
any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company or [iv] any
acquisition by any corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses [a], [b] and [c] of subsection (iii) of this section 1.
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(ii) Individuals who, as of the date hereof, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to
constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose
election, or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then
comprising the Incumbent Board (or by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board) shall be considered as though such
individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office
occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened
solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board.

(iii) Approval by the shareholders of the Company of a reorganization, merger or consolidation (a "Business
Combination"), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, [a] all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were
the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 60% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of
common stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as
the case may be, of the corporation (or other entity) resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation
which as a result of such transaction owns the Company through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting
Securities, as the case may be, [b] no Person (excluding any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation (or
other entity) resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of, respectively, the then
outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation (or other entity) resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business
Combination and [c] at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation (or other governing body) resulting from
such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the
Board, providing for such Business Combination.
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(iv) Approval by the shareholders of the Company of [a] a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company or [b] the
sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, other than to a corporation (or other entity), with respect to
which following such sale or other disposition, [i] more than 60% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of such
corporation (or other equity interests) and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors (or other governing body) is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by all or substantially all
of the individuals and entities who were the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and outstanding
Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such sale or other disposition in substantially the same proportion as their ownership,
immediately prior to such sale or other disposition, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities,
as the case may be, [ii] less than 20% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of such corporation (or other entity) and
the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation (or other entity) entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors (or other governing body)is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by any Person (excluding any employee benefit
plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation), except to the extent that such Person owned substantially the same percent of the
Outstanding Company Common Stock or Outstanding Company Voting Securities prior to the sale or disposition, and [iii] at least a majority of
the members of the board of directors of such corporation (or other governing body) were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the
execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such sale or other disposition of assets of the Company or were
elected, appointed or nominated by the Board.

(d) Disability. "Disability" means the absence of the Executive from the Executive's duties with the Company on a full-time
basis for 180 consecutive business days as a result of incapacity due to mental or physical illness which is determined to be total and permanent
by a physician selected by the Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Executive or the Executive's legal representative (such agreement
as to acceptability not to be withheld unreasonably).
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(e) Cause. "Cause" means:

(i) the willful and continued failure of the Executive to perform substantially the Executive's duties with the Company or
its affiliates (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial
performance is delivered to the Executive by the Board which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Executive
has not substantially performed the Executive's duties and after the Executive is given a reasonable period of time to rectify or eliminate such
failure, or

(ii) the willful engaging by the Executive in illegal conduct or gross misconduct which is materially and demonstrably
injurious to the Company.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no act or failure to act, on the part of the Executive, shall be considered "willful" unless it is
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best
interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or upon the
instructions of a more senior officer of the Company or based upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be conclusively presumed to be
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. The cessation of employment of the
Executive shall not be deemed to be for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly
adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of the entire membership of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held
for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Executive and the Executive is given an opportunity, together with counsel, to be
heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board, the Executive is guilty of the conduct described in subparagraph (i)
or (ii) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.

(f) Good Reason. "Good Reason" means:

(i) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive's position (including
status, offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by section 3(a) of this Agreement, or any
other action by the Company which results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;
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(ii) any failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of section 3(b) of this Agreement, other than an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;

(iii) the Company's requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location other than as provided in section 3(a)(i)
(b) hereof or the Company's requiring the Executive to travel on Company business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately
prior to the Effective Date;

(iv) any purported termination by the Company of the Executive's employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by
this Agreement; or

(v) any failure by the Company to comply with and satisfy section 10(c) of this Agreement.

(g) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" means (i) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for
Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, the date of receipt of the Notice of Termination (as defined in section 4(d)) or any later date
specified therein, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or Disability, the
Date of Termination shall be the date on which the Company notifies the Executive of such termination, and (iii) if the Executive's employment
is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the Date of Termination shall be the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective
Date (as defined in section 4(a)), as the case may be.

2. Employment Period. The Company agrees to continue the Executive in its employ (or, if applicable, in the employ of its subsidiary or
subsidiaries), and the Executive agrees to remain in the employ of the Company (or, if applicable, in the employ of its subsidiary or
subsidiaries) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the third
anniversary of such date (the "Employment Period"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Incumbent Board approves the Change of Control
transaction before it is consummated and one or more of the nonemployee directors adopt(s) a resolution providing that this Agreement shall not
become operative in connection with such Change of Control, this Agreement shall not become operative in connection with that Change of
Control.
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3. Terms of Employment.

(a) Position and Duties.

(i) During the Employment Period, [a] the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and reporting
requirements), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be at least commensurate in all material respects with those held, exercised or assigned
at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date and [b] the Executive's services shall be performed at the
location where the Executive was employed immediately preceding the Effective Date or any office or location less than 35 miles from such
location.

(ii) During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the Executive is
entitled, the Executive agrees to devote reasonable attention and time during normal business hours to the business and affairs of the Company
(or, if applicable, its subsidiary or subsidiaries) and, to the extent necessary to discharge the responsibilities assigned to the Executive
hereunder, to use the Executive's reasonable efforts to perform faithfully and efficiently such responsibilities. During the Employment Period it
shall not be a violation of this Agreement for the Executive to [a] serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees, [b] deliver
lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions and/or [c] manage personal investments, so long as such activities do
not significantly interfere with the performance of the Executive's responsibilities as an employee of the Company (or, if applicable, its
subsidiaries) in accordance with this Agreement. It is expressly understood and agreed that to the extent that any such activities have been
conducted by the Executive prior to the Effective Date, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature
and scope thereto) subsequent to the Effective Date shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive's
responsibilities to the Company (or, if applicable, its subsidiaries).

(b) Compensation.

(i) Base Salary. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive an annual base salary ("Annual Base
Salary"), at least equal to twelve times the highest monthly base salary paid or payable, including any base salary which has been earned but
deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the 12-month period immediately preceding the month in
which the Effective Date occurs. During the Employment Period, the Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed no more than 12 months after the
last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to the Effective Date and
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thereafter at least annually and shall be first increased no more than 12 months after the last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to the
Effective Date and thereafter at least annually by the higher of [a] the average increase (excluding promotional increases) in base salary awarded
to the Executive for each of the three full fiscal years (annualized in the case of any fiscal year consisting of less than twelve full months or
during which the Executive was employed for less than twelve months) prior to the Effective Date, and [b] the percentage increase (excluding
promotional increases) in base salary generally awarded to peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies for the year of
determination. Any increase in Annual Base Salary shall not serve to limit or reduce any other obligation to the Executive under this Agreement.
Annual Base Salary shall not be reduced after any such increase and the term Annual Base Salary as utilized in this Agreement shall refer to
Annual Base Salary as so increased. As used in this Agreement, the term "affiliated companies" shall include any company controlled by,
controlling or under common control with the Company.

(ii) Annual Bonus. In addition to Annual Base Salary, the Executive shall be awarded, for each fiscal year ending during
the Employment Period, an annual bonus (the "Annual Bonus") in cash at least equal to the higher of [a] the average of the three highest
bonuses paid or payable, including any bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its
affiliated companies in respect of the five fiscal years (or such shorter period during which the Executive has been employed by the Company)
immediately preceding the fiscal year in which the Effective Date occurs (annualized for any fiscal year during such period consisting of less
than twelve full months or with respect to which the Executive has been employed by the Company for less than twelve full months) and [b] the
bonus paid or payable (annualized as described above), including any bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred, to the
Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the most recently completed fiscal year prior to the Effective Date (such
higher amount being referred to as the "Recent Annual Bonus"). Each such Annual Bonus shall be paid no later than two and one-half months
following the end of the fiscal year for which the Annual Bonus is awarded, unless the Executive shall elect to defer the receipt of such Annual
Bonus.
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(iii) Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to
participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs applicable generally to other peer executives of the
Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive with incentive
opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities, to the extent, if any, that such distinction is applicable),
savings opportunities and retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of those
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies for the Executive under such plans, practices, policies and programs as in effect at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at any
time after the Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(iv) Welfare Benefit Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive and/or the Executive's family, as the case may
be, shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by
the Company and its affiliated companies (including, without limitation, medical, prescription, dental, disability, salary continuance, employee
life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to the extent applicable generally to other peer executives of
the Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive with benefits
which are less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of such plans, practices, policies and programs in effect for the Executive at
any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at
any time after the Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(v) Expenses. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in accordance with the most favorable policies, practices and procedures of the Company and the
affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more
favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated
companies.
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(vi) Fringe Benefits. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits, including, without
limitation, tax and financial planning services, payment of club dues, and, if applicable, use of automobile and payment of related expenses, in
accordance with the most favorable plans, practices, programs and policies of the Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the
Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect
generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(vii) Office and Support Staff. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to an office or offices of a
size and with furnishings and other appointments, and to exclusive personal secretarial and other assistance, at least equal to the most favorable
of the foregoing provided to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies at any time during the 120-day period immediately
preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as provided generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(viii) Vacation. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the
most favorable plans, policies, programs and practices of the Company and its affiliated companies as in effect for the Executive at any time
during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time
thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

4. Termination of Employment.

(a) Death or Disability. The Executive's employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive's death during the
Employment Period. If the Company determines in good faith that a Disability of the Executive has occurred during the Employment Period, it
may give to the Executive written notice in accordance with section 11(b) of this Agreement of its intention to terminate the Executive's
employment. In such event, the Executive's employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice
by the Executive (the "Disability Effective Date"), provided that, within the 30 days after such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to
full-time performance of the Executive's duties.

(b) Cause. The Company may terminate the Executive's employment during the Employment Period for Cause.

10



(c) Good Reason. The Executive's employment may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason. For purposes of this
section 4(c), any good faith determination of "Good Reason" made by the Executive shall be conclusive. Anything in this Agreement to the
contrary notwithstanding, a termination by the Executive for any reason during the 180-day period immediately following the Effective Date
shall be deemed to be a termination for Good Reason for all purposes of this Agreement.

(d) Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, shall be
communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with section 11(b) of this Agreement. For purposes of this
Agreement, a "Notice of Termination" means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied
upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the
Executive's employment under the provision so indicated, and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date of receipt
of such notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be not more than thirty days after the giving of such notice). The failure by the
Executive or the Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or
Cause shall not waive any right of the Executive or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Executive or the Company,
respectively, from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing the Executive's or the Company's rights hereunder.

5. Obligations of the Company upon Termination.

(a) Good Reason; Other Than for Cause, Death or Disability. If, during the Employment Period, the Company shall terminate the
Executive's employment other than for Cause, death or Disability or the Executive shall terminate the Executive's employment for Good
Reason:

(i) The Company shall pay to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days after the Date of Termination the
aggregate of the following amounts:
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[a] the sum of [i] the Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination to the extent not
theretofore paid, [ii] the product of (x) the higher of [A] the Recent Annual Bonus and [B] the Annual Bonus paid or payable, including any
bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred (and annualized for any fiscal year consisting of less than 12 full months or during
which the Executive was employed for less than 12 full months), for the most recently completed fiscal year during the Employment Period, if
any (such higher amount being referred to as the "Highest Annual Bonus") and (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in
the current fiscal year through the Date of Termination, and the denominator of which is 365 and [iii] any compensation previously deferred by
the Executive (together with any accrued interest or earnings thereon) and any accrued vacation pay, in each case to the extent not theretofore
paid (the sum of the amounts described in clauses [i], [ii] and [iii] shall be hereinafter referred to as the "Accrued Obligations"); and

[b] The amount equal to the product of [i] three and [ii] the sum of (x) the Executive's Annual Base Salary and (y)
the Highest Annual Bonus.

(ii) For three years after the Executive's Date of Termination, or such longer period as may be provided by the terms of
the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy, the Company shall continue benefits to the Executive and/or the Executive's family at least
equal to those which would have been provided to them in accordance with the plans, programs, practices and policies described in sections 3(b)
(iii) and (iv) (the "Benefit Plans") of this Agreement had the Executive's employment not been terminated, in accordance with the most
favorable plans, practices, programs or policies of the Company and its affiliated companies applicable generally to other peer executives and
their families during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally
at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families, provided, however,
that if the Executive becomes re-employed with another employer and is eligible to receive medical or other welfare benefits under another
employer provided plan, the medical and other welfare benefits described herein shall be secondary to those provided under such other plan
during such applicable period of eligibility. For purposes of determining eligibility (but not the time of commencement of benefits) of the
Executive for retiree benefits pursuant to such plans, practices, programs and policies, the Executive shall be considered to have remained
employed until three years after the Date of Termination and to have retired on the last day of such period. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation to continue benefits to the
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Executive under this section 5(a)(ii) to the extent any such continuation of benefits [a] is contrary to the terms of the applicable Benefit Plan at
the time of the Effective Date of the Change of Control, [b] would cause a Benefit Plan or the applicable benefit to lose any tax favored
treatment or tax qualification, or [c] would cause a Benefit Plan to violate any requirement of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended, or any tax qualification or tax favorable treatment provision of the Code (defined below) that is intended to apply to the
Benefit Plan. To the extent the Company is not able to continue the benefits to the Executive under this section 5(a)(ii) because of application of
the foregoing sentence, then the Company shall make a lump-sum payment (within 30 days after the Executive's Date of Termination) to the
Executive equal to the present value of the health, welfare and retirement benefits unable to be provided hereunder, which is designed to
compensate the Executive for lost health, welfare and retirement benefits.

(iii) The Company shall, at its sole expense and as requested, provide the Executive with outplacement services the scope
and provider of which shall be selected by the Executive in the Executive's sole discretion.

(iv) To the extent not theretofore paid or provided, the Company shall timely pay or provide to the Executive any other
amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Executive is eligible to receive under any plan, program, policy or practice or
contract or agreement of the Company and its affiliated companies (such other amounts and benefits shall be hereinafter referred to as the
"Other Benefits").

(b) Death. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's death during the Employment Period, this
Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive's legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for payment of
Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive's estate or
beneficiary, as applicable, in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the
term Other Benefits as utilized in this section 5(b) shall include, without limitation, and the Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries shall be
entitled to receive, benefits at least equal to the most favorable benefits provided by the Company and affiliated companies to the estates and
beneficiaries of peer executives of the Company and such affiliated companies under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating to
death benefits, if any, as in effect with respect to other peer executives and their beneficiaries at any time during the 120-day period immediately
preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive's estate and/or the Executive's beneficiaries, as in effect on the date of the
Executive's death with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their beneficiaries.
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(c) Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's Disability during the Employment
Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the
Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the term Other Benefits as utilized in this section 5(c) shall include, and
the Executive shall be entitled after the Disability Effective Date to receive, disability and other benefits at least equal to the most favorable of
those generally provided by the Company and its affiliated companies to disabled executives and/or their families in accordance with such plans,
programs, practices and policies relating to disability, if any, as in effect generally with respect to other peer executives and their families at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive and/or the Executive's family,
as in effect at any time thereafter generally with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families.

(d) Cause; Other than for Good Reason. If the Executive's employment shall be terminated for Cause during the Employment
Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive other than the obligation to pay to the Executive (i) the
Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination, (ii) the amount of any compensation previously deferred by the Executive,
and (iii) Other Benefits, in each case to the extent theretofore unpaid. If the Executive voluntarily terminates employment during the
Employment Period, excluding a termination for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive,
other than for Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. In such case, all Accrued Obligations shall be paid to
the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Date of Termination.

       (e) Compliance with Code section 409A. To the extent any amount payable under this Agreement is considered "nonqualified
deferred compensation" under Code section 409A, the Company shall not accelerate the time or schedule of any payment to be made hereunder
and such payments may only be made if the Executive has previously "separated from service" with the Company as defined under Code
section 409A.
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6. Nonexclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive's continuing or future participation in any
plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and for which the Executive may qualify, nor shall
anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its
affiliated companies. Amounts which are vested benefits or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under any plan, policy, practice
or program of or any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliated companies at or subsequent to the Date of Termination
shall be payable in accordance with such plan, policy, practice or program or contract or agreement except as explicitly modified by this
Agreement.

7. Full Settlement. The Company's obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its
obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by
way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced
whether or not the Executive obtains other employment. The Company agrees to pay as incurred, to the full extent permitted by law, all legal
fees and expenses which the Executive reasonably incurs as a result of any contest (regardless of the outcome thereof) by the Company, the
Executive or others of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, any provision of this Agreement or any guarantee of performance
thereof (including as a result of any contest by the Executive about the amount of any payment pursuant to this Agreement), plus in each case
interest on any delayed payment at the applicable federal rate provided for in section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code").

8. Certain Additional Payments by the Company.

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if it is determined that any payment or distribution by the
Company to or for the benefit of the Executive (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement
or otherwise, but determined without regard to any additional payments required under this section 8) (a "Payment") would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by the Executive with respect to such excise tax (such
excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Excise Tax"), then the Executive shall be
entitled to receive an additional payment (a "Gross-Up Payment") in an amount such that after payment by the Executive of all taxes (including
any interest or penalties imposed with respect to such taxes), including, without limitation, any income taxes (and any interest and penalties
imposed with respect thereto) and Excise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up Payment, the Executive retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment
equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments.
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(b) Subject to the provisions of section 8(c), all determinations required to be made under this section 8, including whether and
when a Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such
determination, shall be made by such certified public accounting firm as may be designated by the Executive (the "Accounting Firm") which
shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Executive within 15 business days of the receipt of notice from the
Executive that there has been a Payment, or such earlier time as is requested by the Company. If the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant
or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change of Control, the Executive shall appoint another nationally recognized
accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firm
hereunder). All fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined
pursuant to this section 8, shall be paid by the Company to the Executive within five days of the receipt of the Accounting Firm's determination.
If the Accounting Firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the Executive, it shall furnish the Executive with a written opinion that
failure to report the Excise Tax on the Executive's applicable federal income tax return would not result in the imposition of a negligence or
similar penalty. Any determination by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is
possible that Gross-Up Payments which will not have been made by the Company should have been made ("Underpayment"), consistent with
the calculations required to be made hereunder. If the Company exhausts its remedies pursuant to section 8(c) and the Executive thereafter is
required to make a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any
such Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive.

(c) The Executive shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if successful, would
require the payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Payment. Such notification shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than ten
business days after the Executive is informed in writing of such claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of such claim and the date on
which such claim is requested to be paid. The Executive shall not pay such claim prior to the expiration of the 30-day period following the date
on which it gives such notice to the Company (or such shorter period ending on the date that any payment of taxes with respect to such claim is
due). If the Company notifies the Executive in writing prior to the expiration of such period that it desires to contest such claim, the Executive
shall:

16



(i) give the Company any information reasonably requested by the Company relating to such claim,

(ii) take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request in writing from
time to time, including, without limitation, accepting legal representation with respect to such claim by an attorney reasonably selected by the
Company,

(iii) cooperate with the Company in good faith in order effectively to contest such claim, and

(iv) permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to such claim; provided, however, that the Company
shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional interest and penalties) incurred in connection with such contest and shall
indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest and penalties with
respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and payment of costs and expenses. Without limitation on the foregoing provisions of
this section 8(c), the Company shall control all proceedings taken in connection with such contest and, at its sole option, may pursue or forgo
any and all administrative appeals, proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect of such claim and may, at its sole
option, either direct the Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or contest the claim in any permissible manner, and the Executive
agrees to prosecute such contest to a determination before any administrative tribunal, in a court of initial jurisdiction and in one or more
appellate courts, as the Company shall determine; provided, however, that if the Company directs the Executive to pay such claim and sue for a
refund, the Company shall advance the amount of such payment to the Executive, on an interest-free basis and shall indemnify and hold the
Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest or penalties with respect thereto) imposed with
respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with respect to such advance; and further provided that any extension of the
statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the taxable year of the Executive with respect to which such contested amount is claimed
to be due is limited solely to such contested amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the contest shall be limited to issues with respect to
whether a Gross-Up Payment would be payable hereunder and the Executive shall be entitled to settle or contest, as the case may be, any other
issue raised by the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing authority.
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(d) If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to section 8(c), the Executive becomes
entitled to receive any refund with respect to such claim, the Executive shall (subject to the Company's complying with the requirements of
section 8(c)) promptly pay to the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or credited thereon after taxes applicable
thereto). If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to section 8(c), a determination is made that the
Executive shall not be entitled to any refund with respect to such claim and the Company does not notify the Executive in writing of its intent to
contest such denial of refund prior to the expiration of 30 days after such determination, then such advance shall be forgiven and shall not be
required to be repaid and the amount of such advance shall offset, to the extent thereof, the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid.

9. Confidential Information. The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all secret or confidential
information, knowledge or data relating to the Company or any of its affiliated companies, and their respective businesses, which shall have
been obtained by the Executive during the Executive's employment by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and which shall not be or
become public knowledge (other than by acts by the Executive or representatives of the Executive in violation of this Agreement). After
termination of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive shall not, for a period of three years following the Executive's
termination of employment, without the prior written consent of the Company or as may otherwise be required by law or legal process,
communicate or divulge any such information, knowledge or data to anyone other than the Company and those designated by it. In no event
shall an asserted violation of the provisions of this section 9 constitute a basis for deferring or withholding any amounts otherwise payable to the
Executive under this Agreement.

10. Successors.

(a) This Agreement is personal to the Executive and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable by
the Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by
the Executive's legal representatives.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.

18



(c) The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and
to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement,
"Company" shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin, without reference
to principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This
Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective successors
and legal representatives.

(b) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or
by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Executive, to the Executive's address appearing on the records of the Company.

If to the Company:

The Female Health Company
Suite 2225
515 North State Street
Chicago, IL 60610
Attn: Chief Executive Officer

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be
effective when actually received by the addressee.

(c) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any
other provision of this Agreement.
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(d) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such federal, state, local or foreign taxes as
shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(e) The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision hereof or any other provision of
this Agreement or the failure to assert any right the Executive or the Company may have hereunder, including, without limitation, the right of
the Executive to terminate employment for Good Reason pursuant to section 4(c) of this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such
provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement.

(f) The Executive and the Company acknowledge that, except as may otherwise be provided under any other written agreement
between the Executive and the Company, the employment of the Executive by the Company is "at will" and, prior to the Effective Date, the
Executive's employment and this Agreement may be terminated by either the Executive or the Company at any time prior to the Effective Date,
in which case the Executive shall have no further rights under this Agreement. From and after the Effective Date this Agreement shall supersede
any other agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

Dated as of the date first above written.

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ O.B. Parrish                                       
O.B. Parrish

THE FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY

BY  /s/ Mary Ann Leeper                         
      Mary Ann Leeper, President and
      Chief Operating Officer
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Exhibit 10.79

AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT is dated as of October 1, 2005 by and between THE
FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY, a Wisconsin corporation (the "Company"), and MARY ANN LEEPER (the "Executive").

RECITALS

A. The Company and Executive have previously entered into a Change of Control Agreement governing the terms of Executive's
employment relationship with the Company in the event of the possibility, threat or occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below) of the
Company. Executive and the Company desire to amend and restate such Change of Control Agreement in accordance with the terms and
conditions hereof.

B. The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders to assure that the Company will have the continued dedication of the Executive, notwithstanding the possibility, threat or
occurrence of a Change of Control of the Company.

C. The Board believes it is imperative to diminish the inevitable distraction of the Executive by virtue of the personal uncertainties and
risks created by a pending or threatened Change of Control and to encourage the Executive's full attention and dedication to the Company
currently and in the event of any threatened or pending Change of Control, and to provide the Executive with compensation and benefit
arrangements upon a Change of Control which ensure that the compensation and benefit expectations of the Executive will be satisfied and
which are competitive with those of other corporations.

D. In order to accomplish the objectives of the Board summarized in these recitals, the Board has caused the Company to enter into this
Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

In consideration of the recitals and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:



1. Definitions. For the sole and exclusive purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

(a) Effective Date. The "Effective Date" means the first date during the Change of Control Period on which a Change of Control
occurs. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if a Change of Control occurs and Executive's employment with the
Company (or, if applicable, its subsidiary) or this Agreement was terminated prior to the date on which the Change of Control occurs, and if it
is reasonably demonstrated by the Executive that such termination of employment or of this Agreement (i) was at the request of a third party
who has taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change of Control or (ii) otherwise arose in connection with or anticipation of a Change of
Control, then for all purposes of this Agreement the "Effective Date" shall mean the date immediately prior to the date of such termination of
employment or purported termination of this Agreement.

(b) Change of Control Period. The "Change of Control Period" means the period commencing on the date of a Change of Control
and ending on the third anniversary thereafter.

(c) Change of Control. "Change of Control" means any of the following:

(i)  The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) (a "Person") of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of either [a] the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding
Company Common Stock") or [b] the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the "Outstanding Company Voting Securities"); provided, however, that the following acquisitions shall
not constitute a Change of Control: [i] any acquisition directly from the Company, [ii] any acquisition by the Company, [iii] any acquisition by
any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company or [iv] any
acquisition by any corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses [a], [b] and [c] of subsection (iii) of this section 1.
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(ii) Individuals who, as of the date hereof, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to
constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose
election, or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then
comprising the Incumbent Board (or by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board) shall be considered as though such
individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office
occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened
solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board.

(iii) Approval by the shareholders of the Company of a reorganization, merger or consolidation (a "Business
Combination"), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, [a] all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were
the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 60% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of
common stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as
the case may be, of the corporation (or other entity) resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation
which as a result of such transaction owns the Company through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting
Securities, as the case may be, [b] no Person (excluding any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation (or
other entity) resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of, respectively, the then
outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation (or other entity) resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business
Combination and [c] at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation (or other governing body) resulting from
such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the
Board, providing for such Business Combination.
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(iv) Approval by the shareholders of the Company of [a] a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company or [b] the
sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, other than to a corporation (or other entity), with respect to
which following such sale or other disposition, [i] more than 60% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of such
corporation (or other equity interests) and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors (or other governing body) is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by all or substantially all
of the individuals and entities who were the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and outstanding
Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such sale or other disposition in substantially the same proportion as their ownership,
immediately prior to such sale or other disposition, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities,
as the case may be, [ii] less than 20% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of such corporation (or other entity) and
the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation (or other entity) entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors (or other governing body)is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by any Person (excluding any employee benefit
plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation), except to the extent that such Person owned substantially the same percent of the
Outstanding Company Common Stock or Outstanding Company Voting Securities prior to the sale or disposition, and [iii] at least a majority of
the members of the board of directors of such corporation (or other governing body) were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the
execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such sale or other disposition of assets of the Company or were
elected, appointed or nominated by the Board.

(d) Disability. "Disability" means the absence of the Executive from the Executive's duties with the Company on a full-time
basis for 180 consecutive business days as a result of incapacity due to mental or physical illness which is determined to be total and permanent
by a physician selected by the Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Executive or the Executive's legal representative (such agreement
as to acceptability not to be withheld unreasonably).
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(e) Cause. "Cause" means:

(i) the willful and continued failure of the Executive to perform substantially the Executive's duties with the Company or
its affiliates (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial
performance is delivered to the Executive by the Board which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Executive
has not substantially performed the Executive's duties and after the Executive is given a reasonable period of time to rectify or eliminate such
failure, or

(ii) the willful engaging by the Executive in illegal conduct or gross misconduct which is materially and demonstrably
injurious to the Company.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no act or failure to act, on the part of the Executive, shall be considered "willful" unless it is
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best
interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or upon the
instructions of a more senior officer of the Company or based upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be conclusively presumed to be
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. The cessation of employment of the
Executive shall not be deemed to be for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly
adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of the entire membership of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held
for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Executive and the Executive is given an opportunity, together with counsel, to be
heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board, the Executive is guilty of the conduct described in subparagraph (i)
or (ii) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.

(f) Good Reason. "Good Reason" means:

(i) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive's position (including
status, offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by section 3(a) of this Agreement, or any
other action by the Company which results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;
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(ii) any failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of section 3(b) of this Agreement, other than an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;

(iii) the Company's requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location other than as provided in section 3(a)(i)
(b) hereof or the Company's requiring the Executive to travel on Company business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately
prior to the Effective Date;

(iv) any purported termination by the Company of the Executive's employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by
this Agreement; or

(v) any failure by the Company to comply with and satisfy section 10(c) of this Agreement.

(g) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" means (i) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for
Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, the date of receipt of the Notice of Termination (as defined in section 4(d)) or any later date
specified therein, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or Disability, the
Date of Termination shall be the date on which the Company notifies the Executive of such termination, and (iii) if the Executive's employment
is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the Date of Termination shall be the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective
Date (as defined in section 4(a)), as the case may be.

2. Employment Period. The Company agrees to continue the Executive in its employ (or, if applicable, in the employ of its subsidiary or
subsidiaries), and the Executive agrees to remain in the employ of the Company (or, if applicable, in the employ of its subsidiary or
subsidiaries) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the third
anniversary of such date (the "Employment Period"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Incumbent Board approves the Change of Control
transaction before it is consummated and one or more of the nonemployee directors adopt(s) a resolution providing that this Agreement shall not
become operative in connection with such Change of Control, this Agreement shall not become operative in connection with that Change of
Control.
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3. Terms of Employment.

(a) Position and Duties.

(i) During the Employment Period, [a] the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and reporting
requirements), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be at least commensurate in all material respects with those held, exercised or assigned
at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date and [b] the Executive's services shall be performed at the
location where the Executive was employed immediately preceding the Effective Date or any office or location less than 35 miles from such
location.

(ii) During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the Executive is
entitled, the Executive agrees to devote reasonable attention and time during normal business hours to the business and affairs of the Company
(or, if applicable, its subsidiary or subsidiaries) and, to the extent necessary to discharge the responsibilities assigned to the Executive
hereunder, to use the Executive's reasonable efforts to perform faithfully and efficiently such responsibilities. During the Employment Period it
shall not be a violation of this Agreement for the Executive to [a] serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees, [b] deliver
lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions and/or [c] manage personal investments, so long as such activities do
not significantly interfere with the performance of the Executive's responsibilities as an employee of the Company (or, if applicable, its
subsidiaries) in accordance with this Agreement. It is expressly understood and agreed that to the extent that any such activities have been
conducted by the Executive prior to the Effective Date, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature
and scope thereto) subsequent to the Effective Date shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive's
responsibilities to the Company (or, if applicable, its subsidiaries).

(b) Compensation.

(i) Base Salary. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive an annual base salary ("Annual Base
Salary"), at least equal to twelve times the highest monthly base salary paid or payable, including any base salary which has been earned but
deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the 12-month period immediately preceding the month in
which the Effective Date occurs. During the Employment Period, the Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed no more than
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12 months after the last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to the Effective Date and thereafter at least annually and shall be first
increased no more than 12 months after the last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to the Effective Date and thereafter at least
annually by the higher of [a] the average increase (excluding promotional increases) in base salary awarded to the Executive for each of the
three full fiscal years (annualized in the case of any fiscal year
consisting of less than twelve full months or during which the Executive was employed for less than twelve months) prior to the Effective Date,
and [b] the percentage increase (excluding promotional increases) in base salary generally awarded to peer executives of the Company and its
affiliated companies for the year of determination. Any increase in Annual Base Salary shall not serve to limit or reduce any other obligation to
the Executive under this Agreement. Annual Base Salary shall not be reduced after any such increase and the term Annual Base Salary as
utilized in this Agreement shall refer to Annual Base Salary as so increased. As used in this Agreement, the term "affiliated companies" shall
include any company controlled by, controlling or under common control with the Company.

(ii) Annual Bonus. In addition to Annual Base Salary, the Executive shall be awarded, for each fiscal year ending during
the Employment Period, an annual bonus (the "Annual Bonus") in cash at least equal to the higher of [a] the average of the three highest
bonuses paid or payable, including any bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its
affiliated companies in respect of the five fiscal years (or such shorter period during which the Executive has been employed by the Company)
immediately preceding the fiscal year in which the Effective Date occurs (annualized for any fiscal year during such period consisting of less
than twelve full months or with respect to which the Executive has been employed by the Company for less than twelve full months) and [b] the
bonus paid or payable (annualized as described above), including any bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred, to the
Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the most recently completed fiscal year prior to the Effective Date (such
higher amount being referred to as the "Recent Annual Bonus"). Each such Annual Bonus shall be paid no later than two and one-half months
following the end of the fiscal year for which the Annual Bonus is awarded, unless the Executive shall elect to defer the receipt of such Annual
Bonus.
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(iii) Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to
participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs applicable generally to other peer executives of the
Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive with incentive
opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities, to the extent, if any, that such distinction is applicable),
savings opportunities and retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of those
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies for the Executive under such plans, practices, policies and programs as in effect at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at any
time after the Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(iv) Welfare Benefit Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive and/or the Executive's family, as the case may
be, shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by
the Company and its affiliated companies (including, without limitation, medical, prescription, dental, disability, salary continuance, employee
life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to the extent applicable generally to other peer executives of
the Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive with benefits
which are less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of such plans, practices, policies and programs in effect for the Executive at
any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at
any time after the Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(v) Expenses. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in accordance with the most favorable policies, practices and procedures of the Company and the
affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more
favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated
companies.
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(vi) Fringe Benefits. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits, including, without
limitation, tax and financial planning services, payment of club dues, and, if applicable, use of automobile and payment of related expenses, in
accordance with the most favorable plans, practices, programs and policies of the Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the
Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect
generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(vii) Office and Support Staff. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to an office or offices of a
size and with furnishings and other appointments, and to exclusive personal secretarial and other
assistance, at least equal to the most favorable of the foregoing provided to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as provided generally at any
time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(viii) Vacation. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the
most favorable plans, policies, programs and practices of the Company and its affiliated companies as in effect for the Executive at any time
during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time
thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

4. Termination of Employment.

(a) Death or Disability. The Executive's employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive's death during the
Employment Period. If the Company determines in good faith that a Disability of the Executive has occurred during the Employment Period, it
may give to the Executive written notice in accordance with section 11(b) of this Agreement of its intention to terminate the Executive's
employment. In such event, the Executive's employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice
by the Executive (the "Disability Effective Date"), provided that, within the 30 days after such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to
full-time performance of the Executive's duties.
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(b) Cause. The Company may terminate the Executive's employment during the Employment Period for Cause.

(c) Good Reason. The Executive's employment may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason. For purposes of this
section 4(c), any good faith determination of "Good Reason" made by the Executive shall be conclusive. Anything in this Agreement to the
contrary notwithstanding, a termination by the Executive for any reason during the 180-day period immediately following the Effective Date
shall be deemed to be a termination for Good Reason for all purposes of this Agreement.

(d) Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, shall be
communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with section 11(b) of this Agreement. For purposes of this
Agreement, a "Notice of Termination" means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied
upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the
Executive's employment under the provision so indicated, and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date of receipt
of such notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be not more than thirty days after the giving of such notice). The failure by the
Executive or the Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or
Cause shall not waive any right of the Executive or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Executive or the Company,
respectively, from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing the Executive's or the Company's rights hereunder.

5. Obligations of the Company upon Termination.

(a) Good Reason; Other Than for Cause, Death or Disability. If, during the Employment Period, the Company shall terminate the
Executive's employment other than for Cause, death or Disability or the Executive shall terminate the Executive's employment for Good
Reason:

(i) The Company shall pay to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days after the Date of Termination the
aggregate of the following amounts:

11



[a] the sum of [i] the Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination to the extent not
theretofore paid, [ii] the product of (x) the higher of [A] the Recent Annual Bonus and [B] the Annual Bonus paid or payable, including any
bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred (and annualized for any fiscal year consisting of less than 12 full months or during
which the Executive was employed for less than 12 full months), for the most recently completed fiscal year during the Employment Period, if
any (such higher amount being referred to as the "Highest Annual Bonus") and (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in
the current fiscal year through the Date of Termination, and the denominator of which is 365 and [iii] any compensation previously deferred by
the Executive (together with any accrued interest or earnings thereon) and any accrued vacation pay, in each case to the extent not theretofore
paid (the sum of the amounts described in clauses [i], [ii] and [iii] shall be hereinafter referred to as the "Accrued Obligations"); and

[b] The amount equal to the product of [i] three and [ii] the sum of (x) the Executive's Annual Base Salary and (y)
the Highest Annual Bonus.

(ii) For three years after the Executive's Date of Termination, or such longer period as may be provided by the terms of
the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy, the Company shall continue benefits to the Executive and/or the Executive's family at least
equal to those which would have been provided to them in accordance with the plans, programs, practices and policies described in sections 3(b)
(iii) and (iv) (the "Benefit Plans") of this Agreement had the Executive's employment not been terminated, in accordance with the most
favorable plans, practices, programs or policies of the Company and its affiliated companies applicable generally to other peer executives and
their families during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally
at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families, provided, however,
that if the Executive becomes re-employed with another employer and is eligible to receive medical or other welfare benefits under another
employer provided plan, the medical and other welfare benefits described herein shall be secondary to those provided under such other plan
during such applicable period of eligibility. For purposes of determining eligibility (but not the time of commencement of benefits) of the
Executive for retiree benefits pursuant to such plans, practices, programs and policies, the Executive shall be considered to have remained
employed until three years after the Date of Termination and to have retired on the last day of such period. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation to continue benefits to the
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Executive under this section 5(a)(ii) to the extent any such continuation of benefits [a] is contrary to the terms of the applicable Benefit Plan at
the time of the Effective Date of the Change of Control, [b] would cause a Benefit Plan or the applicable benefit to lose any tax favored
treatment or tax qualification, or [c] would cause a Benefit Plan to violate any requirement of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended, or any tax qualification or tax favorable treatment provision of the Code (defined below) that is intended to apply to the
Benefit Plan. To the extent the Company is not able to continue the benefits to the Executive under this section 5(a)(ii) because of application of
the foregoing sentence, then the Company shall make a lump-sum payment (within 30 days after the Executive's Date of Termination) to the
Executive equal to the present value of the health, welfare and retirement benefits unable to be provided hereunder, which is designed to
compensate the Executive for lost health, welfare and retirement benefits.

(iii) The Company shall, at its sole expense and as requested, provide the Executive with outplacement services the scope
and provider of which shall be selected by the Executive in the Executive's sole discretion.

(iv) To the extent not theretofore paid or provided, the Company shall timely pay or provide to the Executive any other
amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Executive is eligible to receive under any plan, program, policy or practice or
contract or agreement of the Company and its affiliated companies (such other amounts and benefits shall be hereinafter referred to as the
"Other Benefits").

(b) Death. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's death during the Employment Period, this
Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive's legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for payment of
Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive's estate or
beneficiary, as applicable, in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the
term Other Benefits as utilized in this section 5(b) shall include, without limitation, and the Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries shall be
entitled to receive, benefits at least equal to the most favorable benefits provided by the Company and affiliated companies to the estates and
beneficiaries of peer executives of the Company and such affiliated companies under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating to
death benefits, if any, as in effect with respect to other peer executives and their beneficiaries at any time during the 120-day period immediately
preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive's estate and/or the Executive's beneficiaries, as in effect on the date of the
Executive's death with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their beneficiaries.
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(c) Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's Disability during the Employment
Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the
Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the term Other Benefits as utilized in this section 5(c) shall include, and
the Executive shall be entitled after the Disability Effective Date to receive, disability and other benefits at least equal to the most favorable of
those generally provided by the Company and its affiliated companies to disabled executives and/or their families in accordance with such plans,
programs, practices and policies relating to disability, if any, as in effect generally with respect to other peer executives and their families at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive and/or the Executive's family,
as in effect at any time thereafter generally with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families.

(d) Cause; Other than for Good Reason. If the Executive's employment shall be terminated for Cause during the Employment
Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive other than the obligation to pay to the Executive (i) the
Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination, (ii) the amount of any compensation previously deferred by the Executive,
and (iii) Other Benefits, in each case to the extent theretofore unpaid. If the Executive voluntarily terminates employment during the
Employment Period, excluding a termination for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive,
other than for Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. In such case, all Accrued Obligations shall be paid to
the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Date of Termination.

       (e) Compliance with Code section 409A. To the extent any amount payable under this Agreement is considered "nonqualified
deferred compensation" under Code section 409A, the Company shall not accelerate the time or schedule of any payment to be made hereunder
and such payments may only be made if the Executive has previously "separated from service" with the Company as defined under Code
section 409A.
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6. Nonexclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive's continuing or future participation in any
plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and for which the Executive may qualify, nor shall
anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its
affiliated companies. Amounts which are vested benefits or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under any plan, policy, practice
or program of or any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliated companies at or subsequent to the Date of Termination
shall be payable in accordance with such plan, policy, practice or program or contract or agreement except as explicitly modified by this
Agreement.

7. Full Settlement. The Company's obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its
obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by
way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced
whether or not the Executive obtains other employment. The Company agrees to pay as incurred, to the full extent permitted by law, all legal
fees and expenses which the Executive reasonably incurs as a result of any contest (regardless of the outcome thereof) by the Company, the
Executive or others of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, any provision of this Agreement or any guarantee of performance
thereof (including as a result of any contest by the Executive about the amount of any payment pursuant to this Agreement), plus in each case
interest on any delayed payment at the applicable federal rate provided for in section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code").

8. Certain Additional Payments by the Company.

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if it is determined that any payment or distribution by the
Company to or for the benefit of the Executive (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement
or otherwise, but determined without regard to any additional payments required under this section 8) (a "Payment") would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by the Executive with respect to such excise tax (such
excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Excise Tax"), then the Executive shall be
entitled to receive an additional payment (a "Gross-Up Payment") in an amount such that after payment by the Executive of all taxes (including
any interest or penalties imposed with respect to such taxes), including, without limitation, any income taxes (and any interest and penalties
imposed with respect thereto) and Excise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up Payment, the Executive retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment
equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments.
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(b) Subject to the provisions of section 8(c), all determinations required to be made under this section 8, including whether and
when a Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such
determination, shall be made by such certified public accounting firm as may be designated by the Executive (the "Accounting Firm") which
shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Executive within 15 business days of the receipt of notice from the
Executive that there has been a Payment, or such earlier time as is requested by the Company. If the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant
or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change of Control, the Executive shall appoint another nationally recognized
accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firm
hereunder). All fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined
pursuant to this section 8, shall be paid by the Company to the Executive within five days of the receipt of the Accounting Firm's determination.
If the Accounting Firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the Executive, it shall furnish the Executive with a written opinion that
failure to report the Excise Tax on the Executive's applicable federal income tax return would not result in the imposition of a negligence or
similar penalty. Any determination by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is
possible that Gross-Up Payments which will not have been made by the Company should have been made ("Underpayment"), consistent with
the calculations required to be made hereunder. If the Company exhausts its remedies pursuant to section 8(c) and the Executive thereafter is
required to make a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and any
such Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive.

(c) The Executive shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if successful, would
require the payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Payment. Such notification shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than ten
business days after the Executive is informed in writing of such claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of such claim and the date on
which such claim is requested to be paid. The Executive shall not pay such claim prior to the expiration of the 30-day period following the date
on which it gives such notice to the Company (or such shorter period ending on the date that any payment of taxes with respect to such claim is
due). If the Company notifies the Executive in writing prior to the expiration of such period that it desires to contest such claim, the Executive
shall:
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(i) give the Company any information reasonably requested by the Company relating to such claim,

(ii) take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request in writing from
time to time, including, without limitation, accepting legal representation with respect to such claim by an attorney reasonably selected by the
Company,
 

(iii) cooperate with the Company in good faith in order effectively to contest such claim, and

(iv) permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to such claim; provided, however, that the Company
shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional interest and penalties) incurred in connection with such contest and shall
indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest and penalties with
respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and payment of costs and expenses. Without limitation on the foregoing provisions of
this section 8(c), the Company shall control all proceedings taken in connection with such contest and, at its sole option, may pursue or forgo
any and all administrative appeals, proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect of such claim and may, at its sole
option, either direct the Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or contest the claim in any permissible manner, and the Executive
agrees to prosecute such contest to a determination before any administrative tribunal, in a court of initial jurisdiction and in one or more
appellate courts, as the Company shall determine; provided, however, that if the Company directs the Executive to pay such claim and sue for a
refund, the Company shall advance the amount of such payment to the Executive, on an interest-free basis and shall indemnify and hold the
Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest or penalties with respect thereto) imposed with
respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with respect to such advance; and further provided that any extension of the
statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the taxable year of the Executive with respect to which such contested amount is claimed
to be due is limited solely to such contested amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the contest shall be limited to issues with respect to
whether a Gross-Up Payment would be payable hereunder and the Executive shall be entitled to settle or contest, as the case may be, any other
issue raised by the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing authority.
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(d) If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to section 8(c), the Executive becomes
entitled to receive any refund with respect to such claim, the Executive shall (subject to the Company's complying with the requirements of
section 8(c)) promptly pay to the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or credited thereon after taxes applicable
thereto). If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to section 8(c), a determination is made that the
Executive shall not be entitled to any refund with respect to such claim and the Company does not notify the Executive in writing of its intent to
contest such denial of refund prior to the expiration of 30 days after such determination, then such advance shall be forgiven and shall not be
required to be repaid and the amount of such advance shall offset, to the extent thereof, the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid.

9. Confidential Information. The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all secret or confidential
information, knowledge or data relating to the Company or any of its affiliated companies, and their respective businesses, which shall have
been obtained by the Executive during the Executive's employment by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and which shall not be or
become public knowledge (other than by acts by the Executive or representatives of the Executive in violation of this Agreement). After
termination of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive shall not, for a period of three years following the Executive's
termination of employment, without the prior written consent of the Company or as may otherwise be required by law or legal process,
communicate or divulge any such information, knowledge or data to anyone other than the Company and those designated by it. In no event
shall an asserted violation of the provisions of this section 9 constitute a basis for deferring or withholding any amounts otherwise payable to the
Executive under this Agreement.

10. Successors.

(a) This Agreement is personal to the Executive and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable by
the Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by
the Executive's legal representatives.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.
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(c) The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and
to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement,
"Company" shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin, without reference
to principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This
Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective successors
and legal representatives.

(b) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or
by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Executive, to the Executive's address appearing on the records of the Company.

If to the Company:

The Female Health Company
Suite 2225
515 North State Street
Chicago, IL 60610
Attn: Chief Executive Officer

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be
effective when actually received by the addressee.

(c) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any
other provision of this Agreement.
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(d) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such federal, state, local or foreign taxes as
shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(e) The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision hereof or any other provision of
this Agreement or the failure to assert any right the Executive or the Company may have hereunder, including, without limitation, the right of
the Executive to terminate employment for Good Reason pursuant to section 4(c) of this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such
provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement.

(f) The Executive and the Company acknowledge that, except as may otherwise be provided under any other written agreement
between the Executive and the Company, the employment of the Executive by the Company is "at will" and, prior to the Effective Date, the
Executive's employment and this Agreement may be terminated by either the Executive or the Company at any time prior to the Effective Date,
in which case the Executive shall have no further rights under this Agreement. From and after the Effective Date this Agreement shall supersede
any other agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

Dated as of the date first above written.

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Mary Ann Leeper                              
Mary Ann Leeper

THE FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY

BY /s/ O.B. Parrish                                 
      O.B. Parrish, Chairman and
      Chief  Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.80

AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT is dated as of October 1, 2005 by and between THE
FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY, a Wisconsin corporation (the "Company"), and MICHAEL POPE (the "Executive").

RECITALS

A. The Company and Executive have previously entered into a Change of Control Agreement governing the terms of Executive's
employment relationship with the Company in the event of the possibility, threat or occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined below) of the
Company. Executive and the Company desire to amend and restate such Change of Control Agreement in accordance with the terms and
conditions hereof.

B. The Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders to assure that the Company will have the continued dedication of the Executive, notwithstanding the possibility, threat or
occurrence of a Change of Control of the Company.

C. The Board believes it is imperative to diminish the inevitable distraction of the Executive by virtue of the personal uncertainties and
risks created by a pending or threatened Change of Control and to encourage the Executive's full attention and dedication to the Company
currently and in the event of any threatened or pending Change of Control, and to provide the Executive with compensation and benefit
arrangements upon a Change of Control which ensure that the compensation and benefit expectations of the Executive will be satisfied and
which are competitive with those of other corporations.

D. In order to accomplish the objectives of the Board summarized in these recitals, the Board has caused the Company to enter into this
Agreement.

AGREEMENTS

In consideration of the recitals and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:



1. Definitions. For the sole and exclusive purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

(a) Effective Date. The "Effective Date" means the first date during the Change of Control Period on which a Change of Control
occurs. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if a Change of Control occurs and Executive's employment with the
Company (or, if applicable, its subsidiary) or this Agreement was terminated prior to the date on which the Change of Control occurs, and if it
is reasonably demonstrated by the Executive that such termination of employment or of this Agreement (i) was at the request of a third party
who has taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a Change of Control or (ii) otherwise arose in connection with or anticipation of a Change of
Control, then for all purposes of this Agreement the "Effective Date" shall mean the date immediately prior to the date of such termination of
employment or purported termination of this Agreement.

(b) Change of Control Period. The "Change of Control Period" means the period commencing on the date of a Change of Control
and ending on the third anniversary thereafter.

(c) Change of Control. "Change of Control" means any of the following:

(i)  The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) (a "Person") of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of 20% or more of either [a] the then outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding
Company Common Stock") or [b] the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the "Outstanding Company Voting Securities"); provided, however, that the following acquisitions shall
not constitute a Change of Control: [i] any acquisition directly from the Company, [ii] any acquisition by the Company, [iii] any acquisition by
any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company or [iv] any
acquisition by any corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses [a], [b] and [c] of subsection (iii) of this section 1.
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(ii) Individuals who, as of the date hereof, constitute the Board (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to
constitute at least a majority of the Board; provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose
election, or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the directors then
comprising the Incumbent Board (or by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board) shall be considered as though such
individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office
occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened
solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board.

(iii) Approval by the shareholders of the Company of a reorganization, merger or consolidation (a "Business
Combination"), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination, [a] all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were
the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 60% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of
common stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as
the case may be, of the corporation (or other entity) resulting from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation
which as a result of such transaction owns the Company through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting
Securities, as the case may be, [b] no Person (excluding any employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation (or
other entity) resulting from such Business Combination) beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of, respectively, the then
outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation (or other entity) resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the Business
Combination and [c] at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the corporation (or other governing body) resulting from
such Business Combination were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the
Board, providing for such Business Combination.
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(iv) Approval by the shareholders of the Company of [a] a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company or [b] the
sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, other than to a corporation (or other entity), with respect to
which following such sale or other disposition, [i] more than 60% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of such
corporation (or other equity interests) and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors (or other governing body) is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by all or substantially all
of the individuals and entities who were the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and outstanding
Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such sale or other disposition in substantially the same proportion as their ownership,
immediately prior to such sale or other disposition, of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities,
as the case may be, [ii] less than 20% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of common stock of such corporation (or other entity) and
the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation (or other entity) entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors (or other governing body)is then beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by any Person (excluding any employee benefit
plan (or related trust) of the Company or such corporation), except to the extent that such Person owned substantially the same percent of the
Outstanding Company Common Stock or Outstanding Company Voting Securities prior to the sale or disposition, and [iii] at least a majority of
the members of the board of directors of such corporation (or other governing body) were members of the Incumbent Board at the time of the
execution of the initial agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such sale or other disposition of assets of the Company or were
elected, appointed or nominated by the Board.

(d) Disability. "Disability" means the absence of the Executive from the Executive's duties with the Company on a full-time
basis for 180 consecutive business days as a result of incapacity due to mental or physical illness which is determined to be total and permanent
by a physician selected by the Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Executive or the Executive's legal representative (such agreement
as to acceptability not to be withheld unreasonably).
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(e) Cause. "Cause" means:

(i) the willful and continued failure of the Executive to perform substantially the Executive's duties with the Company or
its affiliates (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial
performance is delivered to the Executive by the Board which specifically identifies the manner in which the Board believes that the Executive
has not substantially performed the Executive's duties and after the Executive is given a reasonable period of time to rectify or eliminate such
failure, or

(ii) the willful engaging by the Executive in illegal conduct or gross misconduct which is materially and demonstrably
injurious to the Company.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no act or failure to act, on the part of the Executive, shall be considered "willful" unless it is
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Executive's action or omission was in the best
interests of the Company. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board or upon the
instructions of a more senior officer of the Company or based upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be conclusively presumed to be
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. The cessation of employment of the
Executive shall not be deemed to be for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of a resolution duly
adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of the entire membership of the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held
for such purpose (after reasonable notice is provided to the Executive and the Executive is given an opportunity, together with counsel, to be
heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board, the Executive is guilty of the conduct described in subparagraph (i)
or (ii) above, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.

(f) Good Reason. "Good Reason" means:

(i) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive's position (including
status, offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by section 3(a) of this Agreement, or any
other action by the Company which results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;
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(ii) any failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of section 3(b) of this Agreement, other than an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;

(iii) the Company's requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location other than as provided in section 3(a)(i)
(b) hereof or the Company's requiring the Executive to travel on Company business to a substantially greater extent than required immediately
prior to the Effective Date;

(iv) any purported termination by the Company of the Executive's employment otherwise than as expressly permitted by
this Agreement; or

(v) any failure by the Company to comply with and satisfy section 10(c) of this Agreement.

(g) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" means (i) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company for
Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, the date of receipt of the Notice of Termination (as defined in section 4(d)) or any later date
specified therein, as the case may be, (ii) if the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or Disability, the
Date of Termination shall be the date on which the Company notifies the Executive of such termination, and (iii) if the Executive's employment
is terminated by reason of death or Disability, the Date of Termination shall be the date of death of the Executive or the Disability Effective
Date (as defined in section 4(a)), as the case may be.

2. Employment Period. The Company agrees to continue the Executive in its employ (or, if applicable, in the employ of its subsidiary or
subsidiaries), and the Executive agrees to remain in the employ of the Company (or, if applicable, in the employ of its subsidiary or
subsidiaries) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, for the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the third
anniversary of such date (the "Employment Period"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Incumbent Board approves the Change of Control
transaction before it is consummated and one or more of the nonemployee directors adopt(s) a resolution providing that this Agreement shall not
become operative in connection with such Change of Control, this Agreement shall not become operative in connection with that Change of
Control.
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3. Terms of Employment.

(a) Position and Duties.

(i) During the Employment Period, [a] the Executive's position (including status, offices, titles and reporting
requirements), authority, duties and responsibilities shall be at least commensurate in all material respects with those held, exercised or assigned
at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date and [b] the Executive's services shall be performed at the
location where the Executive was employed immediately preceding the Effective Date or any office or location less than 35 miles from such
location.

(ii) During the Employment Period, and excluding any periods of vacation and sick leave to which the Executive is
entitled, the Executive agrees to devote reasonable attention and time during normal business hours to the business and affairs of the Company
(or, if applicable, its subsidiary or subsidiaries) and, to the extent necessary to discharge the responsibilities assigned to the Executive
hereunder, to use the Executive's reasonable efforts to perform faithfully and efficiently such responsibilities. During the Employment Period it
shall not be a violation of this Agreement for the Executive to [a] serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees, [b] deliver
lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions and/or [c] manage personal investments, so long as such activities do
not significantly interfere with the performance of the Executive's responsibilities as an employee of the Company (or, if applicable, its
subsidiaries) in accordance with this Agreement. It is expressly understood and agreed that to the extent that any such activities have been
conducted by the Executive prior to the Effective Date, the continued conduct of such activities (or the conduct of activities similar in nature
and scope thereto) subsequent to the Effective Date shall not thereafter be deemed to interfere with the performance of the Executive's
responsibilities to the Company (or, if applicable, its subsidiaries).

(b) Compensation.

(i) Base Salary. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall receive an annual base salary ("Annual Base
Salary"), at least equal to twelve times the highest monthly base salary paid or payable, including any base salary which has been earned but
deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the 12-month period immediately preceding the month in
which the Effective Date occurs. During the Employment Period, the Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed no more than 12 months after the
last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to the Effective Date and
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thereafter at least annually and shall be first increased no more than 12 months after the last salary increase awarded to the Executive prior to the
Effective Date and thereafter at least annually by the higher of [a] the average increase (excluding promotional increases) in base salary awarded
to the Executive for each of the three full fiscal years (annualized in the case of any fiscal year consisting of less than twelve full months or
during which the Executive was employed for less than twelve months) prior to the Effective Date, and [b] the percentage increase (excluding
promotional increases) in base salary generally awarded to peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies for the year of
determination. Any increase in Annual Base Salary shall not serve to limit or reduce any other obligation to the Executive under this Agreement.
Annual Base Salary shall not be reduced after any such increase and the term Annual Base Salary as utilized in this Agreement shall refer to
Annual Base Salary as so increased. As used in this Agreement, the term "affiliated companies" shall include any company controlled by,
controlling or under common control with the Company.

(ii) Annual Bonus. In addition to Annual Base Salary, the Executive shall be awarded, for each fiscal year ending during
the Employment Period, an annual bonus (the "Annual Bonus") in cash at least equal to the higher of [a] the average of the three highest
bonuses paid or payable, including any bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred, to the Executive by the Company and its
affiliated companies in respect of the five fiscal years (or such shorter period during which the Executive has been employed by the Company)
immediately preceding the fiscal year in which the Effective Date occurs (annualized for any fiscal year during such period consisting of less
than twelve full months or with respect to which the Executive has been employed by the Company for less than twelve full months) and [b] the
bonus paid or payable (annualized as described above), including any bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred, to the
Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies in respect of the most recently completed fiscal year prior to the Effective Date (such
higher amount being referred to as the "Recent Annual Bonus"). Each such Annual Bonus shall be paid no later than two and one-half months
following the end of the fiscal year for which the Annual Bonus is awarded, unless the Executive shall elect to defer the receipt of such Annual
Bonus.
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(iii) Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to
participate in all incentive, savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs applicable generally to other peer executives of the
Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive with incentive
opportunities (measured with respect to both regular and special incentive opportunities, to the extent, if any, that such distinction is applicable),
savings opportunities and retirement benefit opportunities, in each case, less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of those
provided by the Company and its affiliated companies for the Executive under such plans, practices, policies and programs as in effect at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at any
time after the Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(iv) Welfare Benefit Plans. During the Employment Period, the Executive and/or the Executive's family, as the case may
be, shall be eligible for participation in and shall receive all benefits under welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by
the Company and its affiliated companies (including, without limitation, medical, prescription, dental, disability, salary continuance, employee
life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to the extent applicable generally to other peer executives of
the Company and its affiliated companies, but in no event shall such plans, practices, policies and programs provide the Executive with benefits
which are less favorable, in the aggregate, than the most favorable of such plans, practices, policies and programs in effect for the Executive at
any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, those provided generally at
any time after the Effective Date to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(v) Expenses. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to receive prompt reimbursement for all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in accordance with the most favorable policies, practices and procedures of the Company and the
affiliated companies in effect for the Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more
favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated
companies.
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(vi) Fringe Benefits. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits, including, without
limitation, tax and financial planning services, payment of club dues, and, if applicable, use of automobile and payment of related expenses, in
accordance with the most favorable plans, practices, programs and policies of the Company and its affiliated companies in effect for the
Executive at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect
generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(vii) Office and Support Staff. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to an office or offices of a
size and with furnishings and other appointments, and to exclusive personal secretarial and other assistance, at least equal to the most favorable
of the foregoing provided to the Executive by the Company and its affiliated companies at any time during the 120-day period immediately
preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as provided generally at any time thereafter with respect to other peer
executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

(viii) Vacation. During the Employment Period, the Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with the
most favorable plans, policies, programs and practices of the Company and its affiliated companies as in effect for the Executive at any time
during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally at any time
thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies.

4. Termination of Employment.

(a) Death or Disability. The Executive's employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive's death during the
Employment Period. If the Company determines in good faith that a Disability of the Executive has occurred during the Employment Period, it
may give to the Executive written notice in accordance with section 11(b) of this Agreement of its intention to terminate the Executive's
employment. In such event, the Executive's employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice
by the Executive (the "Disability Effective Date"), provided that, within the 30 days after such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to
full-time performance of the Executive's duties.

(b) Cause. The Company may terminate the Executive's employment during the Employment Period for Cause.
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      (c) Good Reason. The Executive's employment may be terminated by the Executive for Good Reason. For purposes of this
section 4(c), any good faith determination of "Good Reason" made by the Executive shall be conclusive. Anything in this Agreement to the
contrary notwithstanding, a termination by the Executive for any reason during the 180-day period immediately following the Effective Date
shall be deemed to be a termination for Good Reason for all purposes of this Agreement.

(d) Notice of Termination. Any termination by the Company for Cause, or by the Executive for Good Reason, shall be
communicated by Notice of Termination to the other party hereto given in accordance with section 11(b) of this Agreement. For purposes of this
Agreement, a "Notice of Termination" means a written notice which (i) indicates the specific termination provision in this Agreement relied
upon, (ii) to the extent applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the
Executive's employment under the provision so indicated, and (iii) if the Date of Termination (as defined below) is other than the date of receipt
of such notice, specifies the termination date (which date shall be not more than thirty days after the giving of such notice). The failure by the
Executive or the Company to set forth in the Notice of Termination any fact or circumstance which contributes to a showing of Good Reason or
Cause shall not waive any right of the Executive or the Company, respectively, hereunder or preclude the Executive or the Company,
respectively, from asserting such fact or circumstance in enforcing the Executive's or the Company's rights hereunder.

5. Obligations of the Company upon Termination.

(a) Good Reason; Other Than for Cause, Death or Disability. If, during the Employment Period, the Company shall terminate the
Executive's employment other than for Cause, death or Disability or the Executive shall terminate the Executive's employment for Good
Reason:

(i) The Company shall pay to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days after the Date of Termination the
aggregate of the following amounts:

[a] the sum of [i] the Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination to the extent not
theretofore paid, [ii] the product of (x) the higher of [A] the Recent Annual Bonus and [B] the Annual Bonus paid or payable, including any
bonus or portion thereof which has been earned but deferred (and annualized for any fiscal year consisting of less than 12 full months or during
which the Executive was employed for less than 12 full months),
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for the most recently completed fiscal year during the Employment Period, if any (such higher amount being referred to as the "Highest Annual
Bonus") and (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the current fiscal year through the Date of Termination, and the
denominator of which is 365 and [iii] any compensation previously deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued interest or earnings
thereon) and any accrued vacation pay, in each case to the extent not theretofore paid (the sum of the amounts described in clauses [i], [ii] and
[iii] shall be hereinafter referred to as the "Accrued Obligations"); and

[b] The amount equal to the product of [i] three and [ii] the sum of (x) the Executive's Annual Base Salary and (y)
the Highest Annual Bonus.

(ii) For three years after the Executive's Date of Termination, or such longer period as may be provided by the terms of
the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy, the Company shall continue benefits to the Executive and/or the Executive's family at least
equal to those which would have been provided to them in accordance with the plans, programs, practices and policies described in sections 3(b)
(iii) and (iv) (the "Benefit Plans") of this Agreement had the Executive's employment not been terminated, in accordance with the most
favorable plans, practices, programs or policies of the Company and its affiliated companies applicable generally to other peer executives and
their families during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive, as in effect generally
at any time thereafter with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families, provided, however,
that if the Executive becomes re-employed with another employer and is eligible to receive medical or other welfare benefits under another
employer provided plan, the medical and other welfare benefits described herein shall be secondary to those provided under such other plan
during such applicable period of eligibility. For purposes of determining eligibility (but not the time of commencement of benefits) of the
Executive for retiree benefits pursuant to such plans, practices, programs and policies, the Executive shall be considered to have remained
employed until three years after the Date of Termination and to have retired on the last day of such period. Notwithstanding anything herein to
the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation to continue benefits to the Executive under this section 5(a)(ii) to the extent any such
continuation of benefits [a] is contrary to the terms of the applicable Benefit Plan at the time of the Effective Date of the Change of Control, [b]
would cause a Benefit Plan or the applicable benefit to lose any tax favored treatment or tax qualification, or [c] would cause a Benefit Plan to
violate any requirement of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or any tax qualification or tax favorable
treatment provision of the Code (defined below) that is intended to apply to the Benefit Plan. To the extent the Company is not able to continue
the benefits to the Executive under this section 5(a)(ii) because of application of the foregoing sentence, then the Company shall make a lump-
sum payment (within 30 days after the Executive's Date of Termination) to the Executive equal to the present value of the health, welfare and
retirement benefits unable to be provided hereunder, which is designed to compensate the Executive for lost health, welfare and retirement
benefits.
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(iii) The Company shall, at its sole expense and as requested, provide the Executive with outplacement services the scope
and provider of which shall be selected by the Executive in the Executive's sole discretion.

(iv) To the extent not theretofore paid or provided, the Company shall timely pay or provide to the Executive any other
amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Executive is eligible to receive under any plan, program, policy or practice or
contract or agreement of the Company and its affiliated companies (such other amounts and benefits shall be hereinafter referred to as the
"Other Benefits").

(b) Death. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's death during the Employment Period, this
Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive's legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for payment of
Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive's estate or
beneficiary, as applicable, in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the
term Other Benefits as utilized in this section 5(b) shall include, without limitation, and the Executive's estate and/or beneficiaries shall be
entitled to receive, benefits at least equal to the most favorable benefits provided by the Company and affiliated companies to the estates and
beneficiaries of peer executives of the Company and such affiliated companies under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating to
death benefits, if any, as in effect with respect to other peer executives and their beneficiaries at any time during the 120-day period immediately
preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive's estate and/or the Executive's beneficiaries, as in effect on the date of the
Executive's death with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their beneficiaries.

(c) Disability. If the Executive's employment is terminated by reason of the Executive's Disability during the Employment
Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the
Date of Termination. With respect to the provision of Other Benefits, the term Other Benefits as utilized in this section 5(c) shall include, and
the Executive shall be entitled after the Disability Effective Date to receive, disability and other benefits at least equal to the most favorable of
those generally provided by the Company and its affiliated companies to disabled executives and/or their families in accordance with such plans,
programs, practices and policies relating to disability, if any, as in effect generally with respect to other peer executives and their families at any
time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Executive and/or the Executive's family,
as in effect at any time thereafter generally with respect to other peer executives of the Company and its affiliated companies and their families.
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(d) Cause; Other than for Good Reason. If the Executive's employment shall be terminated for Cause during the Employment
Period, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive other than the obligation to pay to the Executive (i) the
Executive's Annual Base Salary through the Date of Termination, (ii) the amount of any compensation previously deferred by the Executive,
and (iii) Other Benefits, in each case to the extent theretofore unpaid. If the Executive voluntarily terminates employment during the
Employment Period, excluding a termination for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive,
other than for Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. In such case, all Accrued Obligations shall be paid to
the Executive in a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Date of Termination.

       (e) Compliance with Code section 409A. To the extent any amount payable under this Agreement is considered "nonqualified
deferred compensation" under Code section 409A, the Company shall not accelerate the time or schedule of any payment to be made hereunder
and such payments may only be made if the Executive has previously "separated from service" with the Company as defined under Code
section 409A.

6. Nonexclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive's continuing or future participation in any
plan, program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and for which the Executive may qualify, nor shall
anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its
affiliated companies. Amounts which are vested benefits or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under any plan, policy, practice
or program of or any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliated companies at or subsequent to the Date of Termination
shall be payable in accordance with such plan, policy, practice or program or contract or agreement except as explicitly modified by this
Agreement.

7. Full Settlement. The Company's obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its
obligations hereunder shall not be affected by any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company
may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by
way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement and such amounts shall not be reduced
whether or not the Executive obtains other employment. The Company agrees to pay as incurred, to the full extent permitted by law, all legal
fees and expenses which the Executive reasonably incurs as a result of any contest (regardless of the outcome thereof) by the Company, the
Executive or others of the validity or enforceability of, or liability under, any provision of this Agreement or any guarantee of performance
thereof (including as a result of any contest by the Executive about the amount of any payment pursuant to this Agreement), plus in each case
interest on any delayed payment at the applicable federal rate provided for in section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code").
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8. Certain Additional Payments by the Company.

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if it is determined that any payment or distribution by the
Company to or for the benefit of the Executive (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement
or otherwise, but determined without regard to any additional payments required under this section 8) (a "Payment") would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by the Executive with respect to such excise tax (such
excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Excise Tax"), then the Executive shall be
entitled to receive an additional payment (a "Gross-Up Payment") in an amount such that after payment by the Executive of all taxes (including
any interest or penalties imposed with respect to such taxes), including, without limitation, any income taxes (and any interest and penalties
imposed with respect thereto) and Excise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up Payment, the Executive retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment
equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments.

(b) Subject to the provisions of section 8(c), all determinations required to be made under this section 8, including whether and
when a Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such
determination, shall be made by such certified public accounting firm as may be designated by the Executive (the "Accounting Firm") which
shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and the Executive within 15 business days of the receipt of notice from the
Executive that there has been a Payment, or such earlier time as is requested by the Company. If the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant
or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change of Control, the Executive shall appoint another nationally recognized
accounting firm to make the determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firm
hereunder). All fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined
pursuant to this section 8, shall be paid by the Company to the Executive within five days of the receipt of the Accounting Firm's determination.
If the Accounting Firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the Executive, it shall furnish the Executive with a written opinion that
failure to report the Excise Tax on the Executive's applicable federal income tax return would not result in the imposition of a negligence or
similar penalty. Any determination by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of section 4999 of the Code at the time of the initial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is
possible that Gross-Up Payments which will not have been made by the Company should have been made ("Underpayment"), consistent
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with the calculations required to be made hereunder. If the Company exhausts its remedies pursuant to section 8(c) and the Executive thereafter
is required to make a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment that has occurred and
any such Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive.

(c) The Executive shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if successful, would
require the payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Payment. Such notification shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than ten
business days after the Executive is informed in writing of such claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of such claim and the date on
which such claim is requested to be paid. The Executive shall not pay such claim prior to the expiration of the 30-day period following the date
on which it gives such notice to the Company (or such shorter period ending on the date that any payment of taxes with respect to such claim is
due). If the Company notifies the Executive in writing prior to the expiration of such period that it desires to contest such claim, the Executive
shall:

(i) give the Company any information reasonably requested by the Company relating to such claim,

(ii) take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request in writing from
time to time, including, without limitation, accepting legal representation with respect to such claim by an attorney reasonably selected by the
Company,

(iii) cooperate with the Company in good faith in order effectively to contest such claim, and

(iv) permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to such claim; provided, however, that the Company
shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional interest and penalties) incurred in connection with such contest and shall
indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest and penalties with
respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and payment of costs and expenses. Without limitation on the foregoing provisions of
this section 8(c), the Company shall control all proceedings taken in connection with such contest and, at its sole option, may pursue or forgo
any and all administrative appeals, proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect of such claim and may, at its sole
option, either direct the Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or contest the claim in
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any permissible manner, and the Executive agrees to prosecute such contest to a determination before any administrative tribunal, in a court of
initial jurisdiction and in one or more appellate courts, as the Company shall determine; provided, however, that if the Company directs the
Executive to pay such claim and sue for a refund, the Company shall advance the amount of such payment to the Executive, on an interest-free
basis and shall indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest or
penalties with respect thereto) imposed with respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with respect to such advance; and
further provided that any extension of the statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the taxable year of the Executive with respect to
which such contested amount is claimed to be due is limited solely to such contested amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the contest
shall be limited to issues with respect to whether a Gross-Up Payment would be payable hereunder and the Executive shall be entitled to settle
or contest, as the case may be, any other issue raised by the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing authority.

(d) If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to section 8(c), the Executive becomes
entitled to receive any refund with respect to such claim, the Executive shall (subject to the Company's complying with the requirements of
section 8(c)) promptly pay to the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or credited thereon after taxes applicable
thereto). If, after the receipt by the Executive of an amount advanced by the Company pursuant to section 8(c), a determination is made that the
Executive shall not be entitled to any refund with respect to such claim and the Company does not notify the Executive in writing of its intent to
contest such denial of refund prior to the expiration of 30 days after such determination, then such advance shall be forgiven and shall not be
required to be repaid and the amount of such advance shall offset, to the extent thereof, the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid.

9. Confidential Information. The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the Company all secret or confidential
information, knowledge or data relating to the Company or any of its affiliated companies, and their respective businesses, which shall have
been obtained by the Executive during the Executive's employment by the Company or any of its affiliated companies and which shall not be or
become public knowledge (other than by acts by the Executive or representatives of the Executive in violation of this Agreement). After
termination of the Executive's employment with the Company, the Executive shall not, for a period of three years following the Executive's
termination of employment, without the prior written consent of the Company or as may otherwise be
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required by law or legal process, communicate or divulge any such information, knowledge or data to anyone other than the Company and those
designated by it. In no event shall an asserted violation of the provisions of this section 9 constitute a basis for deferring or withholding any
amounts otherwise payable to the Executive under this Agreement.

10. Successors.

(a) This Agreement is personal to the Executive and without the prior written consent of the Company shall not be assignable by
the Executive otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by
the Executive's legal representatives.

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.

(c) The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and
to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this Agreement,
"Company" shall mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin, without reference
to principles of conflict of laws. The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect. This
Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective successors
and legal representatives.
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(b) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or
by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Executive, to the Executive's address appearing on the records of the Company.

If to the Company:

The Female Health Company
Suite 2225
515 North State Street
Chicago, IL 60610
Attn: Chief Executive Officer

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be
effective when actually received by the addressee.

(c) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any
other provision of this Agreement.

(d) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such federal, state, local or foreign taxes as
shall be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(e) The Executive's or the Company's failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision hereof or any other provision of
this Agreement or the failure to assert any right the Executive or the Company may have hereunder, including, without limitation, the right of
the Executive to terminate employment for Good Reason pursuant to section 4(c) of this Agreement, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such
provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement.

19



(f) The Executive and the Company acknowledge that, except as may otherwise be provided under any other written agreement
between the Executive and the Company, the employment of the Executive by the Company is "at will" and, prior to the Effective Date, the
Executive's employment and this Agreement may be terminated by either the Executive or the Company at any time prior to the Effective Date,
in which case the Executive shall have no further rights under this Agreement. From and after the Effective Date this Agreement shall supersede
any other agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

Dated as of the date first above written.

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Michael Pope                                    
Michael Pope

THE FEMALE HEALTH COMPANY

BY /s/ O.B. Parrish                                
      O.B. Parrish, Chairman and
      Chief  Executive Officer
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Exhibit 23.1

 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 0-18849) of The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries of our report, dated
November 21, 2005, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB of The Female Health Company and Subsidiaries for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Schaumburg, Illinois                            /s/    McGladrey & Pullen, LLP
December 29, 2005



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, O.B. Parrish, Chief Executive Officer of The Female Health Company, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-KSB of The Female Health Company;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the small business issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The small business issuer's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the small business issuer and have:

    (a)    designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the small business issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

    (b)    evaluated the effectiveness of the small business issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

    (c)    disclosed in this report any change in the small business issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the small business
issuer's most recent fiscal quarter (the small business issuer's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the small business issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The small business issuer's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the small business issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the small business issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):



    (a)    all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the small business issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

    (b)    any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the small business issuer's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 29, 2005

 
/s/ O.B. Parrish                                                 
O.B. Parrish
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert R. Zic, Principal Accounting Officer of The Female Health Company, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-KSB of The Female Health Company;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the small business issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The small business issuer's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the small business issuer and have:

    (a)    designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the small business issuer, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

    (b)    evaluated the effectiveness of the small business issuer's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

    (c)    disclosed in this report any change in the small business issuer's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the small business
issuer's most recent fiscal quarter (the small business issuer's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the small business issuer's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The small business issuer's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the small business issuer's auditors and the audit committee of the small business issuer's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):



    (a)    all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely adversely affect the small business issuer's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

    (b)    any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the small business issuer's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 29, 2005

/s/ Robert R. Zic                                              
Robert R. Zic
Principal Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Periodic Financial Report
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned officers of The Female Health
Company (the “Company”) certifies that the Annual Report on Form 10-KSB of the Company for the year ended September 30, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in that Form 10-KSB fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Dated: December 29, 2005
/s/ O.B. Parrish                                            
O.B. Parrish
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: December 29, 2005
/s/ Robert R. Zic                                         
Robert R. Zic
Principal Accounting Officer

This certification is made solely for purpose of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledge standard contained therein, and not for any other purpose.


